## Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

6-1-2022 9:00 AM

# Evaluating the Impact of a Mental Health Literacy Course on Pre-Service Teachers' Self-Efficacy, Attitudes Toward Trauma-Informed Care, Classroom Management, and Relationship Building

Samir Boulazreg, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Susan Rodger, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Arts degree in Education © Samir Boulazreg 2022

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

🔮 Part of the Teacher Education and Professional Development Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Boulazreg, Samir, "Evaluating the Impact of a Mental Health Literacy Course on Pre-Service Teachers' Self-Efficacy, Attitudes Toward Trauma-Informed Care, Classroom Management, and Relationship Building" (2022). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 8601. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/8601

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

#### Abstract

Youth mental health distress has increased in recent years, creating a sense of urgency among teachers regarding preparation, knowledge, and a need for education. To address this need, this program evaluation study evaluated a 12-week mental health literacy course offered as part of a mandatory curriculum at a large Canadian university's Faculty of Education. The goals of the course include amplifying preservice teachers' sense of school mental health awareness, confidence, and relationship building through a trauma and violence and culturally informed approach. Results indicate that incorporating a mental health informed curriculum can positively influence perceived self-efficacy in providing mental health support, attitudes towards trauma-informed care, the ability to foster a mental health healthy classroom environment, and the quality of interactions preservice educators have with students. Perceived self-efficacy in trauma-informed care did not improve as a result of the course, suggesting that supporting classroom mental health and supporting classroom trauma are two distinct practices.

*Keywords:* Mental Health Literacy, Teacher Self-Efficacy, Attitudes Toward Trauma-Informed Care, Teacher Well-Being

#### **Summary for Lay Audience**

Given the rising rates of mental health concerns and the lack of teacher preparedness in addressing student mental health issues, this study investigates the effectiveness of a 12-week mental health literacy course in positively influencing preservice teachers' competencies as they prepare to work with students who may have mental health concerns. Results suggest that the mental health literacy course raised preservice teachers' sense of self-efficacy in providing mental health support, attitudes toward trauma-informed care, the ability to create a positive classroom environment, and the quality of interactions held with students. However, self-efficacy in trauma-informed care did not significantly improve due to the course. These results are promising and serve as valuable insight into how to educate teacher candidates to develop mental health literacy. Since teachers spend an enormous amount of time with students, they are uniquely positioned to notice changes or atypical mental health concerns in their students. The implementation of mental health literacy curricula in teacher education could improve the trajectory of students with mental health concerns who might otherwise go unnoticed.

#### Acknowledgements

I want to thank my supervisor, Dr. Susan Rodger, for her guidance and mentorship throughout my master's thesis. I sincerely appreciate the time and dedication you have set aside to help me complete this work, and in supporting me the whole time. Our interactions were the most significant contributor to the personal growth that I have had in the last two years. It has been a privilege to have had you as my supervisor and role model. You have taught me what resilience, gracefulness, patience, and compassion genuinely mean, both through your words and actions. You have made a lasting impact on me and my life trajectory.

Thank you also to Dr. Marguerite Lengyell and Dr. Jason Brown for being additional sources of support, growth, and mentorship during my graduate studies. The kind and welcoming atmosphere you have created for my colleagues and me is unlike anything I have been a part of before, and I am very thankful to have had you as instructors. To my cohort members from the counselling psychology program, I will forever cherish the friendships and bonds that we have built. I am proud to have grown and learned alongside you all.

To my family, thank you for your unwavering support. I would not be where I am today if it were not for all the kindness, support, and love that you have given me throughout the years. To my parents, Nadira and Azzedine, and my brothers, Adel and Elias—I am eternally grateful and feel immensely privileged to have you all in my corner. I love you as much as the heart can love.

Abstracti
Summary for Lay Audienceii
Acknowledgementsiii
List of Tables
List of Appendices
Chapter 1: Introduction 1
Theoretical Frameworks
Dual Continuum Model of Mental Health
Self-Efficacy Theory
Teacher Self-Efficacy
Teacher Mental Health Self-Efficacy
sSelf-Determination Theory
Chapter 2: Literature Review
The Youth Mental Health Crisis
The Unique Roles Teachers have with Students
Teachers' Lack of Mental Health-Related Skills7
Gaps in Teacher Mental Health Education
Critical issues
Defining Mental Health Literacy9
Mental Health Literacy in Education
Cross-Cultural Considerations
The Present Study
Mental Health Literacy Course

## **Table of Contents**

Aims	14
Research Question and Hypothesis	14
Implications for Practice	
Chapter 2: Methods	
Measures	
Teacher Mental Health Self-Efficacy Measure	
Attitudes Related to Trauma-Informed Care Scale	
Mental Health Literacy Questionnaire	
Teacher Well-Being Scale	
Analyses	
Ethical considerations	
Chapter 3: Results	
Basic Demographics	
Descriptive Statistics	
Relationships Between Measures	
MANOVA	
Chapter 5: Discussion	
Participation Characteristics	
Measures of Association	
Multivariate and Univariate Results	
Self-Determination Theory	
Implications for Teacher Education	
Implications for Mental Health Professionals Working in Schools	
Strength and Limitations	

Strengths	34
Limitations	34
Future Research	35
Conclusion	36
References	39
Appendices	55
Curriculum Vitae	71

### List of Tables

Table 1: Sample Demographics	21
Table 2: Descriptive Statistics	22
Table 3: Time 1 Pearson Correlation Matrix Between Instruments and Subscales of Interest	23
Table 4: Time 2 Pearson Correlation Matrix Between Instruments and Subscales of Interest	23
Table 5: Multivariate and Univariate MANOVA Results	24

## List of Appendices

Appendix A: Ethical Approval Form	55
Appendix B: Basic Demographic Questions	56
Appendix C: School Mental Health Self-Efficacy Teacher Survey (SMH-SETS)	58
Appendix D: Attitudes Related to Trauma-Informed Care Scale (ARTIC)	60
Appendix E: Mental Health Literacy Questionnaire (MHLQ)	64
Appendix F: Teacher Well-Being Scale (TWBS)	67

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

Spanning the past several decades, youth mental illness prevalence rates have increased (Weinberger et al., 2017) while the educational system has steadily adopted higher educational standards and expectations (Darling-Hammond, 2006). The additional pressures faced by students with mental health concerns or illnesses together with the lack of youth mental health support have long been recognized as an issue by both the academy and practitioners (Graham et al., 2011); in the early 1990s, the American Psychological Association (APA) formed a Child and Adolescent Mental Health task force that aimed to raise awareness, train professional providers (i.e., schoolteachers, psychologists, social workers, etc.), increase funding, improve access to services, and promote overall public perception of youth mental health (Henngeler et al., 1994). However, despite youth mental health being identified as a pressing issue for nearly three decades, efforts to track, implement, and improve the resources available to students with mental health concerns have not met expectations in providing effective mental health care (Kutcher et al., 2018) and has resulted in what is described as a highly inequitable and disadvantageous environment for students (Gardner et al., 2020; Koller & Bertel, 2006; Moore & Gammie, 2018). With this in mind this study addresses student mental health via initial teacher education and specific inclusion of curricula regarding how to support student mental health. Specifically, this study investigates whether a mental health literacy course will improve preservice teachers' sense of mental health self-efficacy, attitudes, knowledge, and well-being. Within the context of this study, the terms "mental health problems" and "mental health concerns" are used interchangeably, while the term "mental illness" refers to the identification of disease according to standard diagnostic criteria (e.g., DSM-V) by a qualified professional. Additionally, the terms "young children" and "youth" will be used to refer to all children and adolescents aged 4-17 years of age. Teacher mental health self-efficacy can be broadly defined as the belief teachers hold in their abilities to support student mental health concerns (Brann et al., 2020). Additionally, while this study may have relevance to the teaching discipline as a whole, the investigation focuses on preservice teacher education candidates attending a postgraduate Bachelor of Education program at a large southwestern university in Ontario, Canada.

#### **Theoretical Frameworks**

#### Dual Continuum Model of Mental Health

Three theoretical frameworks that underpin this investigation will be discussed in order to frame this study. Primarily, it is important to define mental health, and the current study employs Corey Keyes' (2002) Dual Continuum Model of mental health and well-being. Keyes posits that positive and negative functioning depends on two dimensions: mental health (i.e., our welfare, including but not limited to levels of happiness, diet, sleep routine, levels of stress, etc.) and mental illness (i.e., the presence of a functional difficulty which warrants a diagnosis). Moreover, mental health and mental illness hold a bidirectional influence on each other, and the amalgamation of both factors dictates the overall functioning and well-being of an individual. Lastly, according to Keyes (2002), our placement in the mental well-being continuum is a fluid and ever-evolving process, and changes may occur day-to-day.

#### Self-Efficacy Theory

**Teacher Self-Efficacy.** Another theoretical framework underlying this study is Albert Bandura's (1997) Self-Efficacy theory. Originating from social cognitive theory, self-efficacy is the belief that an individual possesses when envisioning their ability to complete an objective (Bandura, 2006). Self-efficacy is an important construct for measuring the successful completion of tasks because it dictates one's level of influence and effort (Bandura, 1997; Brann et al., 2020). Researchers have also extended the notion of self-efficacy within the teaching context; teacher self-efficacy has been defined as the belief a teacher has towards their ability to positively affect student performance (Berman et al., 1977; Brann et al., 2020), and studies have demonstrated that it holds a significant influence on teacher satisfaction, stress, burnout, and student productivity (Betoret, 2006; Brann et al., 2020; Brouwers & Tomic, 1999).

**Teacher Mental Health Self-Efficacy.** Researchers have also extended teachers' sense of self-efficacy towards their ability to engage in a mental health role within schools. Simply put, "teacher mental health self-efficacy is defined as a teacher's belief in their capacity to successfully support students' mental health needs." (Brann et al., 2020, p. 3). Mental health self-efficacy, according to Brann and colleagues (2020), reflects three teacher outcomes: 1) levels of confidence in interactions with students with mental health concerns, 2) perceived competencies in noticing mental health symptoms in students, and 3) the ability to engage in hierarchical escalation (i.e., referring students to the appropriate health care professional and/or resource).

#### Self-Determination Theory

The last relevant theoretical underpinning of this investigation is Deci & Ryan's (2008) self-determination theory (SDT). SDT is a theory of human motivation which may help explain the process of shifting preservice teachers' self-efficacy and attitudes. Specifically, SDT posits that autonomy, competence, and relatedness are factors that can either greatly positively or negatively influence motivation. Described as "a set of universal psychological needs that must be satisfied for effective functioning and psychological health" (p. 183), these factors not only dictate the level of effort exerted toward a task, but they also have positive associations with the successful completing of a task and higher levels of well-being and resilience (Bandura, 2009; Deci & Ryan, 2008). While examining the psychological needs of new teachers within the educational context has been an understudied part of the literature (Parker et al., 2019), there is some indication that when teacher candidates possess a sense of autonomy, competence, and relatedness, this increases the number of positive teaching behaviour through SDT will help to conceptualize the necessary elements that best allow shifts in teacher behaviour (Veenker & Paans, 2016)

#### **Chapter 2: Literature Review**

#### The Youth Mental Health Crisis

The World Health Organization has observed that up to 50% of mental illnesses emerge before a child's  $18^{th}$  birthday (Kessler et al., 2005). When untreated, major bouts of mental health illness in adolescence have been seen to correlate with an increase in suicide and substance abuse in young adulthood (Anderson et al., 2019; O'Neil et al., 2011; Papandrea & Winefield, 2011). Further compounding this issue, researchers have recently observed a significant rise in the prevalence rates of mental illness among youth. For instance, Weinberger and colleagues (2017), having collected mental illness data over ten years in the United States (*n* = 607,520), found more than a 40% increase in the prevalence rate of depression for young children between 2005 and 2015. The increase in prevalence rates for young children was also found to be the most significant growth over all other age groups (Weinberger et al., 2017). In Canada, a similar narrative has been unfolding.

Recent research indicates that there is both an increase in emotional disorders among Canadian youth and an increase in the perceived need for professional help among 4- to 16-yearolds with geographical disparities; for example, families living in rural and smaller urban areas have reported a disproportionately higher need in this domain compared to their urban counterparts (Comeau et al., 2019). Data also suggests that youth mental health has worsened over time: for example, in 1983, the province of Ontario launched a province-wide, crosssectional epidemiologic study called the Ontario Child Health Study (OCHS) that aimed to periodically investigate youth mental health rates (OCHS, 2021). Drawing from the OCHS, Cadman et al. (1988) showed that 15-20% of Ontarian children aged 4–16 years old (n = 3294) were identified as having a mental health concern. Over 30 years later, the OCHS's most recent query (n = 6537 families) found that while youth mental health prevalence rates managed to marginally tick upward to around 18-22%, this was enough of a change to produce significant increases in anxiety, depression, and hyperactivity for this population (Boyle et al., 2019). Building off the data from the OCHS, Georgiades et al. (2019) further reported that fewer than one in three youth with mental health concerns receive care from a mental health professional (defined as either a psychiatrist, psychologist, or social worker). For those who do seek aid, they are typically met with troubling wait times of 6–12 months (Centre for Addiction and Mental Health, 2015; Government of Canada, 2006; Lysyk, 2016).

Data collected between 2006 and 2017 through the Registered Persons Database (i.e., the repository for individuals registered through Ontario's universal health coverage; n = approx. 4,000,000) further corroborates the notion that youth mental health illness cases are increasing within Ontario, reporting an alarming 89% increase in mental health or addiction-related emergency department visits for children and young adults aged 14–21 (Chiu et al., 2020). While the exact antecedents relating to this increase in mental health have been difficult to pinpoint (Frasquilho et al. 2016), several predictors of declining mental health have been observed. For example, the APA (2014) conducted a national survey on how adults (aged 18+, n = 1950) and teenagers (aged 13–17, n = 1018) fared with respect to stress. The results found that stress levels for 59% of young respondents exceeded what was labelled as "healthy" during the year prior to the survey. For another 52% of the teenage sample, elevated stress levels had strong negative effects on mental health, and the perceived impact of stress for youth was greater than that for adults (APA, 2014). Societal economic hardship is also linked to poor mental health (Frasquilho et al., 2016); given the rising income inequality in Canada (Banting & Myles, 2016), social determinants of health are another area of concern that may be theorized to increase stress levels.

Increases in toxic stress, which is defined as high levels of stress that outstrip coping abilities due to acute and prolonged exposure to adversity in the absence of nurturance (Shonkoff et al., 2012), is also postulated to be connected to the rising rates of mental health problems. When youth maltreatment leads to toxic stress in youth, permanent brain changes may affect emotional regulation, problem-solving, and risk-assessment abilities, and the likelihood of anxiety, substance abuse disorders, psychosis, and mood dysregulation later in life increases (Mental Health America, 2019). Such impacts of childhood trauma on mental health can create two important sequelae. First, there can be an increased risk for mental health concerns; second, when there is a failure to recognize the effects of trauma and toxic stress within school settings, students may be given diagnoses that don't accurately capture the true nature of their difficulties (e.g., ADHD, oppositional defiant disorder, and other mental health concerns; Black et al., 2012). In other words, mislabelling student trauma may also be inflating mental health rates.

Another key contributor to the rising mental health rates is the lack of funding related to early identification and treatment. Children's Mental Health Ontario (CMHO, 2019) reports that funding for child and youth mental health centres has decreased by nearly 50% in the last 25 years. Furthermore, funding for these youth centres is not needs-based but rather based on

historical allocations, creating severe geographical disparities (e.g., intensive programs are not within reasonable proximity to rural, remote, and northern areas) which serves to contribute to the lengthy wait times (CMHO, 2019). For instance, in the region of London, Ontario, the average wait time for youth seeking counselling and therapy services is 461 days, and the average wait time for intensive mental health treatment is 456 days (CMHO, 2019). In the region of Peel, the CMHO (2019) reports it takes children and adolescents more than a year and a half (566 days) to receive counselling services, and it takes two years (737 days) to receive intensive mental health treatment.

The research converges to demonstrate that unattended child and youth mental health concerns can lead to poorer socio-emotional adjustment, less academic success, diminished participation and engagement in school activities, and a higher propensity to drop out of school before graduating (Meldrum et al., 2009; Vaillancourt, 2013; Volk et al., 2006; Whitley et al., 2013). Making matters worse, suicide accounts for 24% of all deaths among adolescents and young adults aged 15–24 years of age (Ontario College of Teachers, 2018), making it the second leading cause of death among teenagers in Canada (Mental Health Commission of Canada, 2013). All in all, there is a compelling case to be made that our current infrastructure is failing our youth, and immediate intervention is required.

#### The Unique Roles Teachers have with Students

Given the severity of the youth mental health crisis, an attempt to mitigate the negative implications must be explored. One possible avenue in this domain is to investigate the role that teachers and the educational system play. Since teachers are able to form positive and nurturing relationships with their students while at the same time being aware of what constitutes typical and atypical functioning in a particular age group, they are in a unique position to be able to observe and notice youth behaviour. Such contact and knowledge create an invaluable opportunity to notice and positively influence the experience of all students, including youth with mental health concerns. Teachers are not only uniquely positioned to support their students, but they are often one of the first in line to witness, assist, and address youth mental health concerns (Rothi et al., 2008; Ontario College of Teachers, 2018; Brann et al., 2020). Research suggests that teachers play a vital role in facilitating and fostering student competencies that ensure optimal functioning (Reeve, 2006), independence (Lockhorst et al., 2010), and healthy coping (Graham et al., 2011). Teachers also have unique data to work with. For example, teachers can

view grades received over the course of the year as an additional source of information (Moor et al., 2000) and they also have the ability to confer with other colleagues to reflect and discuss any changes they notice with respect to student behaviour. As such, it is no surprise that teachers lead all other professionals in student referrals to mental health services (Rothi et al., 2008).

#### **Teachers' Lack of Mental Health-Related Skills**

Despite the overwhelming desire teachers have to attend to students' mental health needs (Reinke et al., 2020), teachers commonly report feeling ill-prepared to take on students with mental health concerns (Brann et al., 2020). This can be seen through the Canadian Teachers' Federation's (CTF) national survey of elementary and secondary school teachers (n = 3927) which found that 97% of surveyed teachers reported a desire for further professional development in the recognition and understanding of students' mental health concerns (Froese-Germain & Riel, 2012). Additionally, 87% of teachers report that their past education in this domain was inadequate (Froese-Germain & Riel, 2012). A study by Dwyer et al. (2006) supports the findings that teachers lack mental health education. In an investigation of teachers' ability to correctly identify internalizing (e.g., anxiety, social withdrawal, etc.) and externalizing (e.g., aggressive behaviour) symptoms of mental health in students ages 4–8 years (n = 760), the authors report that teachers scored poorly in their abilities to correctly detect these indicators. Specifically, teachers' accuracy when attempting to identify internalizing mental health issues ranged between 26–34%. And while teachers were found to be better able to identify students' externalizing mental health symptoms, their abilities were still less than chance (i.e., 49%) when comparing their predictions to the Family Risk Factor Checklist (Dwyer et al., 2006).

Teachers also lack a clear understanding of trauma and how such experiences can be associated with negative behaviours in the classroom. Rather than interpreting student avoidance, aggression, distrust, and dysregulation as markers of trauma (Siegfried & Blackshear, 2016), there is a tendency to instead misinterpret these behaviours as intentional misconduct that deserves harsh consequences and a discipline-oriented approach (Honsinger & Brown, 2019; Walkley & Cox, 2013). Learning about trauma and violence-informed care can thus provide an important perspective for teachers, providing a strong rationale for teacher education in this area. In this way, teachers learn to view classroom behaviours through an inclusive and equitable rather than confrontational lens. It is important to note, the inability to effectively teach and attend to students with mental health concerns impacts more than just students. Attrition rates among new teachers are quickly increasing (National Commission on Teaching and America's Future, 2002) and researchers attribute this growth in large part due to the stress related to a lack of competencies in mental health (Weston et al., 2008). For instance, an investigation which looked at the major reported sources of stress that grade 1–12 teachers (n = 771) experienced found that the main source of teacher stress was a mismatch between competencies and a desire to help students with mental health concerns (Ekornes, 2016). An inverse relationship between teachers' inability to properly attend to classroom mental health and teacher well-being (Ekornes, 2016; Willis et al., 2019), as well as a positive relationship between teacher well-being and students' mental health well-being (Braun, 2019; Hastings & Bham, 2003; Roeser & Midgley, 1997) have also been reported.

#### **Gaps in Teacher Mental Health Education**

Teachers bear the sole responsibility for their lack of mental health competencies. The educational system's role in promoting mental health skills and education to work with students with mental health concerns has yet to become widespread (Andrews et al., 2014; Brown et al., 2019; Graham et al., 2011; Rodger et al., 2014), modernized (Gowers et al., 2004; Koller & Bertel, 2006) and consistent (Moore & Gammie, 2018). This is especially the case in preservice (or initial) teacher education (Graham et al., 2011). For example, one study which analyzed over 213 Bachelor of Education (BEd) programs across 66 post-secondary institutes in Canada found that only two of the programs sampled (i.e., <1%) had a mental health literacy course that was a mandatory component of their curriculum which explicitly mentioned mental health related constructs (e.g., well-being, stress, emotional support, or specific mental health concerns, such as anxiety, depression, etc.) in its course description or syllabus, offered strategies on implementation, and highlighted the importance of relationships towards supporting students with mental health concerns (Rodger et al., 2014). This lack of education is critical because it leaves behind opportunities for new teachers to develop these essential skills and knowledge, which can lead to their perceived self-inadequacies to teach and attend to student mental health issues. Another study in Ontario, Canada, which sampled 75 secondary school teachers found that only 26% of teachers felt prepared in their role to address students with mental health issues after graduating from their BEd program (Andrews et al., 2014). Additionally, 72% of teachers reported never having taken any mental health education courses following graduation, and only

8% of the sample revealed that taking a mental health literacy course was offered as an elective during their BEd (Andrews et al., 2014).

#### **Critical issues**

#### Defining Mental Health Literacy

Mental Health Literacy (MHL) has often been regarded as a vague concept lacking a congruent definition in the literature due to its multiple definitions and lack of consensus (Sørensen et al. 2012; Malloy-Weir et al. 2016). MHL initially evolved from the Health Literacy (HL) literature, in which HL was defined as one's ability to competently use information to maintain and promote good health (Nutbeam et al., 1993). Unsatisfied with the omission of mental health in the HL definition, Jorm et al. (1997) coined MHL, the first term which first sought to distinguish and establish mental health literacy as being separate from health literacy. In doing so, Jorm and colleagues (1997) defined MHL as the knowledge and positive attitude towards psychological disorders which allow for the recognizing, managing, and prevention of mental health-related concerns in oneself and in others. This view of MHL aimed to empower the collective approach to mental health in that it promoted the capacity for symptom management in the general public while diminishing the notion that health professionals are the sole individuals capable of treating mental health concerns (Jorm, 2018; Jorm et al., 1997).

Despite the positive change, however, this definition of MHL was limited by way of its heavily focused clinical characterization (i.e., it focused more on the recognition of mental health symptoms). Kutcher et al. (2013) were other major contributors to our understanding of MHL. Specifically, Kutcher et al. (2013) refined MHL by stating that it includes four key components: (1) having the capacity to optimize positive mental health, (2) having knowledge of evidence-based research pertaining to the treatment of mental disorders, (3) having a positive attitude which serves to destigmatize mental health, and (4) possessing help-seeking behaviours, i.e., knowing when and where to seek appropriate resources. While Kutcher et al.'s (2013) definition can be viewed as more holistic in scope than the initial definition provided by Jorm et al. (1997), MHL defined in this way still falls short by way of omitting important contextual factors insofar as the educational system is concerned.

Within the context of education, the role of the relationships between student and teacher is much more prominent. For example, the relationship that doctors and nurses have traditionally held between their patients is much more unilateral, distant, and infrequent (Kabaa & Sooriakumaran, 2007) and these types of health care providers typically have inconsistent interactions throughout any given year. In contrast, teachers and students possess a much more unique relationship in that it is more intimate, collaborative, and long-standing (Thousand et al., 2002). Additionally, teachers and students often interact on a day-to-day basis and this relationship also extends to the students' parents (Thousand et al., 2002), which results in many more opportunities to intervene. Therefore, the knowledge that MHL in education requires is much more nuanced than other types of health care professionals and must be emphasized. The interactions do not simply end at being able to recognize symptoms and different disorders, and then seeking help; instead, they allow for continuous contact and the ability to track ongoing movement in the mental well-being continuum.

Given teachers' time and exposure to students and the recent uptick in youth mental health, there exists a high likelihood that teachers will encounter at least one student with mental health concerns in their classroom (Chiu et al., 2020; Georgiades et al., 2019). The teaching profession can prepare teacher candidates by inculcating MHL as part of the standard educational program. In fact, this notion is even written in the Education Act across Canada (Scarfo, 2010): "In loco parentis", which translates to "in place of a parent" in Latin, states that the special bond that teacher and student hold requires careful attention and responsibility. As Scarfo (2010) puts it, "Duty of care requires teachers to assume the role of a kind, firm and judicious parent" (p. 14).

Thus, MHL not only allows teachers to capitalize on the opportunity to positively impact their students, but the case can also be made that knowledge, awareness, and intentionality in this domain is an integral core of the teaching profession. Weston and colleagues (2008) posit that in order to meet the cognitive, social, and emotional needs of students, the teaching profession must include practices that are geared to a child-centred family-driven approach that is culturally relevant and strengths-based, in order to meet the needs of students. In addition, Weston et al. (2008) suggest that a foundational component of teacher education must include knowledge and awareness in policy and laws that govern ethical and effective delivery of learning supports, in addition to the skills required to observe and enact said supports. Communication when demonstrating these competencies is deemed essential, as well as a willingness to collaborate with colleagues and systems that strive to maximize student academic success and healthy development (Weston et al., 2008). Given that the teaching profession has had pressing and critical calls for reforms since the early 1800s (Fraser, 2006), calls to integrate an effective and holistic teacher mental health competency framework can be considered as the present-day concerns that need to be addressed in order to continue to move the profession forward and continue to respond to the needs of our communities and the youth within them.

Of particular interest here are studies investigating links between MHL and help-seeking efficacy (Carr et al., 2018). Descriptions of the impact of teacher education demonstrate that direct teaching can result in improved knowledge on most topics; for example, a single 2-hour professional development workshop administered to teachers and administration staff (n = 126) was able to translate to increased perceptions of confidence, abilities, attitudes, awareness, and efficacy at a 3-month follow up (Woods, 2014). As Dods (2016) puts it, "action is known to be mediated by self-efficacy, and it is possible that hands-on experience creates knowledge that is easier to translate and use in practice" (p. 56). Thus, it is with this in mind that the current study investigates the potential link between self-efficacy for mental health and MHL education.

#### Mental Health Literacy in Education

In the search for a more relevant definition of MHL as it pertains to education and the roles that teachers can play, the Canadian Alliance on Mental Illness and Mental Health (CAMIMH, 2007) definition of MHL provides a valuable addition for consideration. Namely, they posit MHL to also encompass awareness and advocacy in the individual and social determinants of health. Furthermore, education in this domain should translate to an active preventative approach that continuously seeks to question, transform, and refine one's knowledge and practice (CAMIMH, 2007). While the term "literacy" is incredibly complex within the mental health context as it already stands, the case can be made that MHL needs to include additional components which are embedded in all levels of one's ecological system. In other words, MHL does not merely translate to symptomology and diagnosis; rather, MHL also includes knowledge of the role that intersectionality (e.g., the socioeconomic, sociopolitical, and cross-cultural) plays when viewing mental health. As Masters (2019) pointed out, MHL is "the capacity to make informed choices and engage effectively in behaviours that promote mental health and wellness as determined by the context in which it is applied" (p. 35). Regarding how teachers may benefit from this knowledge, MHL translates to the ability to leverage teacherstudent relationships in a way that allows for a better understanding of student struggles and

concerns, and a further ability to be confident and self-efficacious in knowing how and when to provide the appropriate resources.

#### **Cross-Cultural Considerations**

It is essential to consider the cross-cultural components embedded within the educational context when it comes to mental health and student experiences in and out of the classroom. That is, teachers need to be cognizant of culture and the intersectionality of identity as it relates to opportunity, absenteeism, punishment, expulsion and the role that the juvenile system plays with the school system (Downey & Pribesh, 2004; Holt & Gershenson, 2019; Lindsay & Hart, 2017; McCarthy & Hoge, 1987; Steinberg, & Lacoe, 2017). For example, concerning punishment, data from the 2011–2012 school year in the United States revealed that black children, though they represented only 16% of primary and secondary school students nationwide (i.e., ranging from kindergarten to grade 12), accounted for 43% of all multiple-suspension cases (Steinberg, & Lacoe, 2017). Additionally, research has demonstrated that students who shared the same race as their teacher received significantly less exclusionary discipline (e.g., isolating a child away from the class instead of suspending them), with black male students being the most impacted (Lindsay & Hart, 2017).

This disproportionate punishment for black students has been attributed to a bias in white teachers' appraisal of black student behaviour, in which behaviours were judged more harshly than deserved (Downey & Pribesh, 2004). This disproportionate punishment was also substantiated by Holt & Gershenson (2019), who found that at the primary school level, not only did a match between teacher and student skin colour have a negative relationship with the amounts of school suspensions, but this relationship also extended to decreased levels of non-attendance and decreased levels of late arrivals for these students. The relationship of harsh punishment also extends to the juvenile justice system, as similar activities of school delinquency has been observed to net black students with authorities on a greater likelihood when compared to white students (McCarthy & Hoge, 1987).

Other minority groups are also impacted by this phenomenon. For instance, Indigenous youth commonly experience barriers of individual and systemic racism which directly affects their scholastic success (Hare & Pidgeon, 2011). These barriers been identified as being linked with increased dropout rates, and racism directed at Indigenous students has been observed to result in negative student attitudes, self-esteem, and socio-emotional development (Hare &

Pidgeon, 2011). The same also extends to refugee and immigrant students, as research has shown that despite refugee and immigrant youth being at an increased risk of mental health concerns and suicidality due to possible traumatic pre-migration events, these youth are less than half as likely as non-immigrant children to be referred to mental health services (Colucci et al., 2011). Putting these cross-cultural considerations into perspective, it becomes evident that in order to holistically define MHL, it is necessary to also include a cross-cultural component.

#### **The Present Study**

The literature reviewed thus far has briefly showcased the troubling youth mental health rates, the lack of preparedness felt by teachers in helping students with mental health concerns, the lack of adequate teacher mental health education programs, and the stressors that stem from a lack of mental health competencies. Reflecting on the issues which stem from these set of circumstances, a poignant statement from Koller & Bertel (2006) is worth mentioning: "there is a call for a paradigm shift ... to better prepare all school-based personnel, including teachers, administrators, counselors ... to proactively confront the mental health challenges of today's youth and the difficulties they face in serving those students" (p. 197). This study thus aims to answer this call by investigating whether preservice teachers' mental health self-efficacy can be improved via a mental health literacy course. This study also tracks whether attitudes towards trauma-informed care, mental health knowledge, and the ability to build better relationships with students can be improved due to the mental health course.

#### Mental Health Literacy Course

The mental health literacy (MHL) course, offered as part of the mandatory curriculum at a large Canadian university's Faculty of Education, aims to foster preservice teachers' sense of school mental health awareness and knowledge about mental health. More specifically, the MHL course is a trauma, violence, and culturally informed course that was designed by experts in the field and is meant to instill confidence in preservice teachers when conceptualizing mental health (Atkins & Rodger, 2016). The course uses the Aligned and Integrated Model (AIM) from School Mental Health Ontario (SMHO), which provides operational definitions and strategies in each of the tiers in a three-tiered model of support (universal, preventative, and targeted; SMHO, 2021).

The course is delivered online and completely asynchronously in twelve weekly lessons to second year teacher candidates and includes topics such as understanding mental health and well-being, seeking help and finding support, and responding to mental health needs (Atkins & Rodger, 2016). The course was designed by a team of teachers, graduate students and faculty in the fields of mental health and education.

Delivery of the course is centered around improving teachers' identification of signs and symptoms of mental health (flourishing and languishing, in the language of Keyes' Dual Continuum Model) in students, developing teacher knowledge in supporting mental health in classrooms, and learning strategies to both reduce student stress and accommodate students in situation-specific ways (Atkins & Rodger, 2016). However, it is important to add, the course places emphasis on increasing general knowledge and awareness toward mental health, rather than attempting to instill expertise (Atkins & Rodger, 2016). Research has demonstrated that the MHL course has shown to better preservice teachers' understanding of the impact of mental health, the impact that teachers may have, the sense of duty and urgency required with students with mental health concerns, and it has shown to translate expectations and learning to the realities of the classroom experiences (Atkins & Rodger, 2016; Rodger et al. 2020).

This program evaluation study evaluates whether an online mental health literacy course can influence preservice teachers' mental health self-efficacy. This study also investigates whether an online mental health literacy course can translate into better perceptions and attitudes toward trauma-informed care, and whether self-efficacy in dealing with trauma can be positively enhanced. Furthermore, another aim of this study is to improve teachers' role with students with mental health concerns, allowing for greater and faster response to these youth, better interactions between teacher and pupil, and an enhanced ability to create a mentally healthy classroom that destigmatize mental health concerns. Since past reviews have indicated mixed findings in mental health education that aims to teach mental health proficiencies (Anderson et al., 2019), another outcome of this study is to add to the discussion surrounding the ways teachers' mental health education can be integrated, allowing teachers to feel more prepared interacting and teaching students with mental health issues.

*Research Question and Hypothesis.* This study seeks to understand whether an online mental health literacy course positively influences mental health self-efficacy in preservice teachers and examines shifts in related concepts such as teacher well-being and trauma-informed care in the classroom. Accordingly, it is hypothesized post-test scores on the measures of interest will increase as a result of participating in the mental health course. That is, post-test scores on

the Student Mental Health Self Efficacy Teacher Survey (SMH-SETS), the Attitudes Towards Trauma-Informed Care (ARTIC) scores, the Teacher Well-Being Scale (TWBS), and the Mental Health Literacy Questionnaire (MHLQ) will all increase when compared to pre-test scores.

*Implications for Practice.* Since teachers hold a highly influential role in the development of their pupils (Cook & Kilmer, 2010), improvements in teachers' mental health self-efficacy will lead to the healthier development of students with mental health concerns. Teachers' mental health self-efficacy may also bolster the sense of well-being that teachers have (Ekornes, 2016), and there is good reason to believe that this would also equate to less distress in approaching delicate situations related to students' mental health. This competency may also lessen attrition and burnout rates among new teachers (National Commission on Teaching and America's Future, 2002). Ultimately, however, teachers' mental health self-efficacy could improve the interactions between students and teachers and could create an additional, much needed layer of support for young students with mental health concerns. Thus, the implications of the proposed study could shed light on how to deliver mental health curriculum to preservice teachers.

#### **Chapter 2: Methods**

This study investigates the perceptions and attitudes of students enrolled in a mandatory course as part of a Bachelor of Education program at a large Ontario university through a pre-test post-test design. Participants (n = 240) were preservice teachers enrolled in the course 5018Q: Supporting Social-Emotional Development. As part of the 5018Q curriculum, students enrolled in this course were required to complete two mandatory questionnaires (October 2020 and February 2021, i.e., before the course began and after it ended). These questionnaires were evaluated as a participation mark toward the course final grade and completion was worth 5% of the overall course grade each (for a total of 10%). The research team requested permission to use teacher candidates' scores in research and this study received ethical approval from the Research Ethics Board (please see Appendix A).

#### Measures

Participants were asked to complete basic demographic questions (Appendix B) and all measures listed in this section. All data collection occurred via the online survey tool Qualtrics. The survey began with basic demographic questions (i.e., age, sex, and ethnic background), followed by asking participants to list whether they have knowledge in any extracurricular teaching domains (e.g., youth indigenous first aid training certificate).

#### **Missing Data**

In developing the aggregate scores (which were then converted to mean item scores), careful attention was given to the number of missing items for any participant. If a teacher candidate missed more than 20% of the items on any scale or subscale, an aggregate score was not computed, and their data was not included in the analyses.

#### Teacher Mental Health Self Efficacy Measure

The Student Mental Health Self Efficacy Teacher Survey (SMH-SETS) is a standardized tool that operationalizes mental health-self-efficacy as the belief in one's own professional competency in the following domains: addressing student mental health needs; instructing and responding to students with mental health concerns; recognizing symptoms of mental health; and the ability to foster an encouraging and optimistic environment toward mental health in the classroom (Brann et al., 2020). The SMH-SETS includes a total of 15 questions, each starting with the sentence "I feel confident in my ability to…" in a given mental health area (see Appendix C). Sample questions include "I feel confident in my ability to meet the emotional or

mental health and safety needs of my students when teaching", "I feel confident in my ability to refer students to mental health providers", and "I feel confident in my ability to promote positive social-emotional skills in the classroom" (Brann et al., 2020).

Each item is ranked on a 6-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 6 (strongly agree; Brann et al., 2020). The minimum summed score for the SMH-SETS is 15 and the maximum is 90; higher scores represent higher perceived confidence in classroom mental health self-efficacy, and vice versa. The internal consistency for the SMH-SETS was found to be strong ( $\alpha = .91$ ; Brann et al., 2020). A mean item score (MIS) was calculated.

#### Attitudes Related to Trauma-Informed Care Scale

In order to gauge participants' attitudes concerning adapting a classroom traumainformed approach, this study uses Baker et al.'s (2016) Attitudes Related to Trauma-Informed Care Scale (ARTIC; Appendix D). The ARTIC is an instrument which has six versions that each evaluate perceptions of trauma-informed care within different settings. Since this study concerns preservice teachers, the ARTIC-35-Education version used. The ARTIC-35-Education (which will be referred to as "ARTIC" in this text) is a 35-item instrument that is meant to gauge attitudes of trauma-informed care within the educational setting. The instrument uses a sevenpoint Likert scale with five subscales. It boasts high overall internal consistency ( $\alpha = .91$ ), as well as high internal consistency within each of its subscales. The five subscales, a brief definition, and their Cronbach's  $\alpha$  values are: 1) Underlying Causes of Behaviour and Symptoms  $(\alpha = .78)$ , which investigates how educators interpret their students' challenging behaviours; 2) Responses to Problem Behaviour and Symptoms ( $\alpha = .76$ ), which evaluates where educators stand in terms of flexibility and accommodation as compared to enforcing rules and consequences; 3) On-the-Job Behaviour ( $\alpha = .72$ ), which is devoted to understanding participants' job perceptions as it relates to the capacity for empathy vs. the desire for classroom control; 4) Self-Efficacy at Work ( $\alpha = .79$ ), which looks at attitudes towards preparedness, or lack thereof, toward job demands; and, 5) Reactions to Work ( $\alpha = .71$ ), seeks to unearth participants' views and reactions concerning vicarious trauma. Overall ARTIC scores are tallied by averaging each of the five subscales scores, therefore, the minimum score is 35, and the maximum score is 245. A low score reflects negative views towards trauma-informed care, whereas a high score reflects more positive outlook in this domain. Mean item scores were calculated for each of the five subscales, as well as the total.

#### Mental Health Literacy Questionnaire

The MHLQ (Appendix E) is a measure that assesses beliefs, skillset, and knowledge as it relates to mental health literacy promotion and proficiency (Hatcher, 2018; Pandori-Chuckal, 2020; Masters, 2019). The 42-item questionnaire uses a five-point Likert scale and is structured through four subscales that measure knowledge, perspectives, skills, and leadership. Higher ratings represent higher endorsement of the item in question. The four subscales, a brief definition, and their Cronbach's  $\alpha$  values are: 1) Teaching and Leading a Mentally Healthy Classroom (23 items;  $\alpha = .94$ ), which assess the capacity for teachers to promote a mentally healthy school climate; 2) Expectancies (6 items;  $\alpha = .96$ ), captures personal expectations pertaining to the roles that teachers play in supporting students' social and emotional concerns; 3) Professional Relational Skills (9 items;  $\alpha = .88$ ), is a collection of items which evaluates the ability to build relationships with members of the school, community, and in managing conflict; and 4) Role Clarity, (4 items;  $\alpha = .92$ ) a subscale that assesses teachers' perspective on their job as it relates to promoting students' mental health well-being. Mean item scores were calculated for each of the four subscales, as well as the total.

#### Teacher Well-Being Scale

To assess our sample's well-being, this study uses Collie and colleagues' (2015) TWBS. (Appendix F). The TWBS, inspired by Ryan and Deci's (2011) definition of general well-being, is a 16-item instrument that asks participants to rate three factors of educator well-being through the question "Currently, how do the following aspects of being a teacher affect your well-being as a teacher?" (Collie et al., 2015, p. 753). These factors include role requirements (e.g., administrative work), relationships and policies within the organization (e.g., interactions with staff members), and interactions with students (Bird, 2020). The scale uses a 7-point Likert scale, with higher scores indicating higher levels of well-being, resulting in a possible minimum score of 16 and a maximum score of 112. Three subscales are used for the TWBS: the Workload Well-Being subscale ( $\alpha = .85$ ; Collie et al., 2015) asks respondents to rate well-being related to workload (e.g., "Administrative work related to teaching"); the Organizational Well-Being subscale ( $\alpha = .84$ ; Collie et al., 2015) evaluates well-being related to workplace culture and administration perspectives (e.g., "School rules and procedures that are in place"); and lastly, the Student Interaction Well-Being subscale ( $\alpha = .82$ ; Collie et al., 2015) asks subjects to rate the impact that educator's have with their students (e.g., "Relations with students in my class"). In

order to derive a total score, each of the items are summed and then divided by 16 (i.e., the total number of questions) to obtain a mean item score, which were calculated for each of the three subscales.

#### Analyses

The analyses for this study were conducted in 3 steps: descriptive statistics, measures of association, and a repeated measures MANOVA. Each of these inquiries provided important information about the study's sample and the variables of interest.

#### Procedure

Students enrolled in 5018Q received an email in September 2020 informing them of the mandatory components of their course curriculum. Included were the details regarding the preand post-tests: these were not graded but were counted as 'participation' marks; provided that students responded to 95% of all questions on each test, they earned 5% credit for their course grade. This was supplemented by a letter of information and informed consent asking for their permission to use the data from the pre- and post-tests for research purposes. The vast majority (n = 240) agreed, constituting a 98% agreement rate. Data collection began on September 11<sup>th</sup>, 2020, as participants received an invitation link to take the pre-test questionnaire via Qualtrics. It is important to note, participants completed this assessment a week before their course started to ensure that the data would be uncontaminated by the material presented in the course. The MHL course was delivered weekly for 12 total weeks, spanning from September 2020 to February 2021. Following completion of the final session, a post-test assessment was delivered, again through Qualtrics.

#### **Ethical considerations**

The study was approved by the University Research Ethics Board. Informed consent was obtained from all participating students. Participants were explicitly told that they are not required to participate in this study. In order to preserve participant confidentiality, researchers analyzing the data did so after final grades were submitted and all identifying data (e.g., email addresses) were removed.

#### **Chapter 3: Results**

#### **Basic Demographics**

Demographic characteristics of the sample are shown on Table 1. A total of 243 preservice teachers were sampled, 49 of whom were male, 192 were female, and two preferred not to answer. From the total sample, 37% were in the primary teaching division (n = 91), 11% were in the junior teaching division (n = 26), 10% were in the intermediate teaching division ( $n = 10^{-1}$ 24), and 42% were in the senior teaching division (n = 102). Students can specialize in one of 6 specialty fields, and the mental health literacy course was mandatory for all students except those who were enrolled in the Applied Psychology specialized program. Of the students enrolled in the course, visual inspection shows that the specialization was approximately equally distributed across the remaining five fields, with the least number of participants stemming from the field of early childhood education (17%, n = 40), and the most coming from urban education (23%, n =53). Out of nine possible choices regarding undergraduate major, most students had graduated from arts and humanities (n = 76, 31%), the sciences (n = 38, 16%), and social sciences (n = 35, 16%)14%), with 51 students (21%) marked "other" as their previous degree program. Ninety percent of the sample (n = 219) had an undergraduate degree prior to entering their studies as preservice teachers, and 78% of the sample (n = 190) reported they had taken prior mental health education. From those who reported previous mental health learning, most participants indicated this prior source of learning was from either an undergraduate course (44%, n = 106) or a training program (24%, n = 57; e.g., Applied Suicide Intervention Skills Training, Mental Health First Aid)

### Table 1

Male4920.2GenderFemale19279Prefer not to answer20.8Primary9137.4Bachelor of Education ProgramJunior2610.7Intermediate249.8Senior10242International Education4017Early Childhood Education3816.2Urban Education5322.6French5121.7STEM5322.6Missing83.3Science3815.6Previous DegreeSocial Sciences35Previous DegreeSocial Sciences3514.4Arts and Humanities7631.3Social Work20.8Religion/Divinity41.6Other5121Degree ObtainedPhD10.4Previous Mental Health LearningYes19078.2No5321.8N5321.8If yes, from where?Yes19078.2NIf yes, from where?Undergraduate course41.6Other23.511.6N43.6Post graduate course41.601.6Other22.99.11043.6Post graduate course41.601.6Other22.99.11.61.6Other22.99.11.61.6Other22.99.1 </th <th>Measure</th> <th></th> <th>Ν</th> <th>%</th>	Measure		Ν	%
GenderFemale19279Prefer not to answer20.8Primary9137.4Bachelor of Education ProgramJunior2610.7Internediate249.8Senior10242International Education4017Early Childhood Education3816.2Urban Education5322.6French5121.7STEM5322.6Missing83.3Science3815.6Previous DegreeScience3815.6Social Sciences197.8Previous DegreeSocial Sciences197.8Degree ObtainedPhD10.4Other5121Masters208.2No5321.8Missing10.4Other20.8Missing10.4Other20.8Missing10.4Other20.8Missing10.4Other20.8Missing10.4Other2321.8Missing10.4Other2321.8Missing10.4Other2321.8Missing10.4Other2321.8No5321.8No5321.8No5321.8No		Male	49	20.2
Prefer not to answer         2         0.8           Primary         91         37.4           Junior         26         10.7           Intermediate         24         9.8           Senior         102         42           International Education         40         17           Early Childhood Education         38         16.2           Urban Education         53         22.6           French         51         21.7           STEM         53         22.6           Missing         8         3.3           Science         38         15.6           Psychology         10         4.1           Child and Family Studies         8         3.3           Health Sciences         19         7.8           Previous Degree         Social Sciences         35         14.4           Arts and Humanities         76         31.3         Social Work         2         0.8           Religion/Divinity         4         1.6         Other         51         21           Degree Obtained         PhD         1         0.4         Other         2         0.8           Missing         1	Gender	Female	192	79
Primary9137.4Bachelor of Education ProgramJunior2610.7Intermediate249.8Senior10242International Education4017Early Childhood Education3816.2Urban Education5322.6French5121.7STEM5322.6Missing83.3Science3815.6Psychology104.1Child and Family Studies83.3Health Sciences197.8Previous DegreeSocial Sciences3514.4Arts and Humanities7631.3Social Work20.8Religion/Divinity41.6Other5121Degree ObtainedPhD10.4Previous Mental Health LearningYes190No5321.8If yes, from where?Ves19078.2No5321.510.4Other229.1Training program5723.5If yes, from where?10.643.6Post graduate course41.6Other229.1		Prefer not to answer	2	0.8
Bachelor of Education Program         Junior         26         10.7           Intermediate         24         9.8           Senior         102         42           International Education         40         17           Early Childhood Education         38         16.2           Urban Education         53         22.6           French         51         21.7           STEM         53         22.6           Missing         8         3.3           Science         38         15.6           Psychology         10         4.1           Child and Family Studies         8         3.3           Health Sciences         19         7.8           Previous Degree         Social Sciences         35         14.4           Arts and Humanities         76         31.3         Social Work         2         0.8           Religion/Divinity         4         1.6         Other         51         21           Degree Obtained         PhD         1         0.4         0.4         0.4         0.4         0.4         0.4         0.4         0.4         0.4         0.4         0.4         0.4         0.4         0.		Primary	91	37.4
Bachelor of Education Program         Intermediate         24         9.8           Senior         102         42           International Education         40         17           Early Childhood Education         38         16.2           Urban Education         53         22.6           French         51         21.7           STEM         53         22.6           Missing         8         3.3           Science         38         15.6           Psychology         10         4.1           Child and Family Studies         8         3.3           Health Sciences         19         7.8           Previous Degree         Social Sciences         35         14.4           Arts and Humanities         76         31.3         Social Work         2         0.8           Religion/Divinity         4         1.6         Other         51         21           Degree Obtained         PhD         1         0.4         Other         2         0.8           Missing         1         0.4         Other         2         0.8         3         3           Degree Obtained         PhD         1 <td< td=""><td>Dechalor of Education Drogram</td><td>Junior</td><td>26</td><td>10.7</td></td<>	Dechalor of Education Drogram	Junior	26	10.7
Senior         102         42           International Education         40         17           Early Childhood Education         38         16.2           Urban Education         53         22.6           French         51         21.7           STEM         53         22.6           Missing         8         3.3           Science         38         15.6           Psychology         10         4.1           Child and Family Studies         8         3.3           Health Sciences         19         7.8           Previous Degree         Social Sciences         35         14.4           Arts and Humanities         76         31.3         Social Work         2         0.8           Religion/Divinity         4         1.6         Other         51         21           Degree Obtained         PhD         1         0.4         Other         2         0.8           Missing         1         0.4         Other         2         0.8         21.9           Degree Obtained         PhD         1         0.4         Other         2         0.8         21.8           Missing         1<	Bachelor of Education Program	Intermediate	24	9.8
International Education         40         17           Early Childhood Education         38         16.2           Urban Education         53         22.6           French         51         21.7           STEM         53         22.6           Missing         8         3.3           Science         38         15.6           Psychology         10         4.1           Child and Family Studies         8         3.3           Health Sciences         19         7.8           Previous Degree         Social Sciences         35         14.4           Arts and Humanities         76         31.3         Social Work         2         0.8           Religion/Divinity         4         1.6         Other         51         21           Degree Obtained         PhD         1         0.4         Other         20         8.2           Degree Obtained         PhD         1         0.4         Other         2         0.8           Missing         1         0.4         Other         2         0.8         3         21.8           Frevious Mental Health Learning         Yes         190         78.2		Senior	102	42
$\begin{array}{c} {\rm Early Childhood Education} & 38 & 16.2 \\ {\rm Urban Education} & 53 & 22.6 \\ {\rm French} & 51 & 21.7 \\ {\rm STEM} & 53 & 22.6 \\ {\rm Missing} & 8 & 3.3 \\ \hline \\ {\rm Science} & 38 & 15.6 \\ {\rm Psychology} & 10 & 4.1 \\ {\rm Child and Family Studies} & 8 & 3.3 \\ {\rm Health Sciences} & 19 & 7.8 \\ {\rm Health Sciences} & 19 & 7.8 \\ {\rm Health Sciences} & 35 & 14.4 \\ {\rm Arts and Humanities} & 76 & 31.3 \\ {\rm Social Work} & 2 & 0.8 \\ {\rm Religion/Divinity} & 4 & 1.6 \\ {\rm Other} & 51 & 21 \\ \hline \\ {\rm Degree Obtained} & {\rm PhD} & 1 & 0.4 \\ {\rm Other} & 20 & 8.2 \\ {\rm Degree Obtained} & {\rm PhD} & 1 & 0.4 \\ {\rm Other} & 2 & 0.8 \\ {\rm Missing} & 1 & 0.4 \\ {\rm Other} & 2 & 0.8 \\ {\rm Missing} & 1 & 0.4 \\ {\rm Other} & 2 & 0.8 \\ {\rm Missing} & 1 & 0.4 \\ {\rm Other} & 2 & 0.8 \\ {\rm Missing} & 1 & 0.4 \\ {\rm Other} & 2 & 0.8 \\ {\rm Missing} & 1 & 0.4 \\ {\rm Other} & 2 & 0.8 \\ {\rm Missing} & 1 & 0.4 \\ {\rm Other} & 53 & 21.8 \\ {\rm Training program} & 57 & 23.5 \\ {\rm If yes, from where?} & {\rm Hog traduate course} & 4 & 1.6 \\ {\rm Other} & 22 & 9.1 \\ {\rm Straduate course} & 4 & 1.6 \\ {\rm Other} & 22 & 9.1 \\ {\rm Straduate course} & 4 & 1.6 \\ {\rm Other} & 22 & 9.1 \\ {\rm Other} & 22 & 9.1 \\ {\rm Straduate course} & 4 & 1.6 \\ {\rm Other} & 22 & 9.1 \\ {\rm Straduate course} & 4 & 1.6 \\ {\rm Other} & 22 & 9.1 \\ {\rm Other} & 22 & 9.1 \\ {\rm Straduate course} & 4 & 1.6 \\ {\rm Other} & 22 & 9.1 \\ {\rm Straduate course} & 4 & 1.6 \\ {\rm Other} & 22 & 9.1 \\ {\rm Straduate course} & 4 & 1.6 \\ {\rm Other} & 22 & 9.1 \\ {$		International Education	40	17
$\begin{array}{c} {\rm Cohort} & {\rm Urban\ Education} & 53 & 22.6 \\ {\rm French} & 51 & 21.7 \\ {\rm STEM} & 53 & 22.6 \\ {\rm Missing} & 8 & 3.3 \\ {\rm Science} & 38 & 15.6 \\ {\rm Psychology} & 10 & 4.1 \\ {\rm Child\ and\ Family\ Studies} & 8 & 3.3 \\ {\rm Health\ Sciences} & 19 & 7.8 \\ {\rm Previous\ Degree} & {\rm Social\ Sciences} & 35 & 14.4 \\ {\rm Arts\ and\ Humanities} & 76 & 31.3 \\ {\rm Social\ Work} & 2 & 0.8 \\ {\rm Religion/Divinity} & 4 & 1.6 \\ {\rm Other} & 51 & 21 \\ \\ {\rm Degree\ Obtained} & {\rm PhD} & 1 & 0.4 \\ {\rm Other} & 51 & 21 \\ \\ {\rm Masters} & 20 & 8.2 \\ {\rm Previous\ Mental\ Health\ Learning} & {\rm Yes\ Missing} & 1 & 0.4 \\ {\rm Other} & 2 & 0.8 \\ {\rm Missing} & 1 & 0.4 \\ \\ {\rm Previous\ Mental\ Health\ Learning} & {\rm Yes\ Missing} & 1 & 0.4 \\ {\rm Other\ S1 & 21.8 \\ {\rm No\ S3 & 21.8 \\ {\rm No\ S3 & 21.8 \\ {\rm No\ S3 & 21.8 \\ {\rm Post\ graduate\ course} & 106 & 43.6 \\ \\ {\rm Post\ graduate\ course} & 4 & 1.6 \\ \\ {\rm Other\ 22 & 9.1 \\ {\rm $		Early Childhood Education	38	16.2
French         51         21.7           STEM         53         22.6           Missing         8         3.3           Science         38         15.6           Psychology         10         4.1           Child and Family Studies         8         3.3           Health Sciences         19         7.8           Previous Degree         Social Sciences         35         14.4           Arts and Humanities         76         31.3           Social Work         2         0.8           Religion/Divinity         4         1.6           Other         51         21           Degree Obtained         PhD         1         0.4           Previous Mental Health Learning         Yes         190         78.2           No         53         21.8         106         43.6           Post graduate course         106         43.6         106         43.6           Post graduate course         4         1.6         0         0         106         43.6	Cabart	Urban Education	53	22.6
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Conort	French	51	21.7
Missing83.3Science3815.6Psychology104.1Child and Family Studies83.3Health Sciences197.8Previous DegreeSocial Sciences3514.4Arts and Humanities7631.3Social Work20.8Religion/Divinity41.6Other5121Degree ObtainedPhD10.4Other20.8Missing10.4Other20.8If yes, from where?Yes19078.2If yes, from where?Undergraduate course10643.6Post graduate course41.6Other229.1If yes, from where?Undergraduate course4Other229.1If yes, from where?Undergraduate course4Other229.1If yes, from where?0.50.5		STEM	53	22.6
Science $38$ $15.6$ Psychology10 $4.1$ Child and Family Studies $8$ $3.3$ Health Sciences19 $7.8$ Previous DegreeSocial Sciences $35$ $14.4$ Arts and Humanities $76$ $31.3$ Social Work2 $0.8$ Religion/Divinity $4$ $1.6$ Other $51$ $21$ Degree ObtainedPhD $1$ $0.4$ Previous Mental Health LearningYes $190$ $78.2$ No $53$ $21.8$ Training program $57$ $23.5$ If yes, from where?Undergraduate course $4$ $1.6$ Other $22$ $9.1$		Missing	8	3.3
$\begin{array}{cccc} & Psychology & 10 & 4.1 \\ Child and Family Studies & 8 & 3.3 \\ Health Sciences & 19 & 7.8 \\ Social Sciences & 35 & 14.4 \\ Arts and Humanities & 76 & 31.3 \\ Social Work & 2 & 0.8 \\ Religion/Divinity & 4 & 1.6 \\ Other & 51 & 21 \\ \end{array}$ $\begin{array}{cccc} & Undergraduate & 219 & 90.1 \\ Masters & 20 & 8.2 \\ PhD & 1 & 0.4 \\ Other & 2 & 0.8 \\ Missing & 1 & 0.4 \\ Other & 2 & 0.8 \\ Missing & 1 & 0.4 \\ \end{array}$ $\begin{array}{cccc} Previous Mental Health Learning & Yes & 190 & 78.2 \\ No & 53 & 21.8 \\ If yes, from where? & Undergraduate course & 106 & 43.6 \\ Post graduate course & 4 & 1.6 \\ Other & 22 & 9.1 \\ \end{array}$		Science	38	15.6
$\begin{array}{cccc} \mbox{Child and Family Studies} & 8 & 3.3 \\ \mbox{Health Sciences} & 19 & 7.8 \\ \mbox{Social Sciences} & 35 & 14.4 \\ \mbox{Arts and Humanities} & 76 & 31.3 \\ \mbox{Social Work} & 2 & 0.8 \\ \mbox{Religion/Divinity} & 4 & 1.6 \\ \mbox{Other} & 51 & 21 \\ \mbox{Undergraduate} & 219 & 90.1 \\ \mbox{Masters} & 20 & 8.2 \\ \mbox{PhD} & 1 & 0.4 \\ \mbox{Other} & 2 & 0.8 \\ \mbox{Missing} & 1 & 0.4 \\ \mbox{Other} & 2 & 0.8 \\ \mbox{Missing} & 1 & 0.4 \\ \mbox{Other} & 2 & 0.8 \\ \mbox{Missing} & 1 & 0.4 \\ \mbox{Other} & 2 & 0.8 \\ \mbox{Missing} & 1 & 0.4 \\ \mbox{Other} & 2 & 0.8 \\ \mbox{Missing} & 1 & 0.4 \\ \mbox{Other} & 2 & 0.8 \\ \mbox{Missing} & 1 & 0.4 \\ \mbox{Other} & 2 & 0.8 \\ \mbox{Missing} & 1 & 0.4 \\ \mbox{Previous Mental Health Learning} & Yes & 190 & 78.2 \\ \mbox{No} & 53 & 21.8 \\ \mbox{Indergraduate course} & 106 & 43.6 \\ \mbox{Post graduate course} & 4 & 1.6 \\ \mbox{Other} & 22 & 9.1 \\ \mbox{Indergraduate course} & 4 & 1.6 \\ \mbox{Other} & 22 & 9.1 \\ \mbox{Indergraduate course} & 4 & 1.6 \\ \mbox{Other} & 22 & 9.1 \\ \mbox{Indergraduate course} & 4 & 1.6 \\ \mbox{Other} & 22 & 9.1 \\ \mbox{Indergraduate course} & 4 & 1.6 \\ \mbox{Other} & 22 & 9.1 \\ \mbox{Indergraduate course} & 4 & 1.6 \\ \mbox{Other} & 22 & 9.1 \\ \mbox{Indergraduate course} & 4 & 1.6 \\ \mbox{Other} & 22 & 9.1 \\ \mbox{Indergraduate course} & 4 & 1.6 \\ \mbox{Other} & 22 & 9.1 \\ \mbox{Indergraduate course} & 4 & 1.6 \\ \mbox{Other} & 22 & 9.1 \\ \mbox{Indergraduate course} & 4 & 1.6 \\ \mbox{Other} & 22 & 9.1 \\ \mbox{Indergraduate course} & 4 & 1.6 \\ \mbox{Indergraduate course} & 4 & 1.6 \\ \mbox{Other} & 22 & 9.1 \\ \mbox{Indergraduate course} & 4 & 1.6 \\ \$		Psychology	10	4.1
$\begin{array}{cccc} \mbox{Health Sciences} & 19 & 7.8 \\ \mbox{Previous Degree} & Social Sciences & 35 & 14.4 \\ \mbox{Arts and Humanities} & 76 & 31.3 \\ \mbox{Social Work} & 2 & 0.8 \\ \mbox{Religion/Divinity} & 4 & 1.6 \\ \mbox{Other} & 51 & 21 \\ \mbox{Undergraduate} & 219 & 90.1 \\ \mbox{Masters} & 20 & 8.2 \\ \mbox{PhD} & 1 & 0.4 \\ \mbox{Other} & 2 & 0.8 \\ \mbox{Missing} & 1 & 0.4 \\ \mbox{Other} & 2 & 0.8 \\ \mbox{Missing} & 1 & 0.4 \\ \mbox{Previous Mental Health Learning} & Yes & 190 & 78.2 \\ \mbox{No} & 53 & 21.8 \\ \mbox{If yes, from where?} & Infaining program & 57 & 23.5 \\ \mbox{If yes, from where} & 106 & 43.6 \\ \mbox{Post graduate course} & 4 & 1.6 \\ \mbox{Other} & 22 & 9.1 \\ \end{tabular}$		Child and Family Studies	8	3.3
Previous DegreeSocial Sciences3514.4Arts and Humanities7631.3Social Work20.8Religion/Divinity41.6Other5121Degree ObtainedPhD10.4Other20.8Masters208.2Previous Mental Health LearningYes19078.2No5321.8If yes, from where?Undergraduate course10643.6Post graduate course41.6Other229.1		Health Sciences	19	7.8
Arts and Humanities76 $31.3$ Social Work2 $0.8$ Religion/Divinity4 $1.6$ Other51 $21$ Degree ObtainedUndergraduate $219$ $90.1$ Masters $20$ $8.2$ PhD1 $0.4$ Other2 $0.8$ Missing1 $0.4$ Previous Mental Health LearningYes $190$ No $53$ $21.8$ If yes, from where?Training program $57$ If yes, from where?Undergraduate course $106$ A3.6Post graduate course $4$ Other $22$ $9.1$	Previous Degree	Social Sciences	35	14.4
$\begin{array}{c cccc} Social Work & 2 & 0.8 \\ Religion/Divinity & 4 & 1.6 \\ \hline Other & 51 & 21 \\ \hline Undergraduate & 219 & 90.1 \\ Masters & 20 & 8.2 \\ \hline Degree Obtained & PhD & 1 & 0.4 \\ Other & 2 & 0.8 \\ \hline Missing & 1 & 0.4 \\ \hline Previous Mental Health Learning & Yes & 190 & 78.2 \\ \hline No & 53 & 21.8 \\ \hline If yes, from where? & Undergraduate course & 106 & 43.6 \\ \hline Post graduate course & 4 & 1.6 \\ \hline Other & 22 & 9.1 \\ \hline Mathematical Health Course & 4 & 1.6 \\ \hline Other & 22 & 9.1 \\ \hline Mathematical Health Course & 4 & 1.6 \\ \hline Other & 22 & 9.1 \\ \hline \end{array}$		Arts and Humanities	76	31.3
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c } \hline Religion/Divinity & 4 & 1.6 \\ \hline Other & 51 & 21 \\ \hline Other & 51 & 21 \\ \hline Undergraduate & 219 & 90.1 \\ \hline Masters & 20 & 8.2 \\ \hline PhD & 1 & 0.4 \\ \hline Other & 2 & 0.8 \\ \hline Missing & 1 & 0.4 \\ \hline Previous Mental Health Learning & Yes & 190 & 78.2 \\ \hline No & 53 & 21.8 \\ \hline If yes, from where? & Undergraduate course & 106 & 43.6 \\ \hline Post graduate course & 4 & 1.6 \\ \hline Other & 22 & 9.1 \\ \hline Masters & 20 & 8.2 \\ \hline Mast$		Social Work	2	0.8
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c } \hline Other & 51 & 21 \\ \hline Undergraduate & 219 & 90.1 \\ \hline Masters & 20 & 8.2 \\ \hline PhD & 1 & 0.4 \\ \hline Other & 2 & 0.8 \\ \hline Missing & 1 & 0.4 \\ \hline Other & 2 & 0.8 \\ \hline Missing & 1 & 0.4 \\ \hline Previous Mental Health Learning & Yes & 190 & 78.2 \\ \hline No & 53 & 21.8 \\ \hline Training program & 57 & 23.5 \\ \hline If yes, from where? & Undergraduate course & 106 & 43.6 \\ \hline Post graduate course & 4 & 1.6 \\ \hline Other & 22 & 9.1 \\ \hline Missing & 10 & 0.4 \\ \hline \end{tabular}$		Religion/Divinity	4	1.6
Undergraduate $219$ $90.1$ Masters $20$ $8.2$ Degree ObtainedPhD $1$ $0.4$ Other $2$ $0.8$ Missing $1$ $0.4$ Previous Mental Health LearningYes $190$ Previous Mental Health LearningYes $190$ Training program $57$ $23.5$ If yes, from where?Undergraduate course $106$ 43.6Post graduate course $4$ Other $22$ $9.1$		Other	51	21
Masters208.2Degree ObtainedPhD10.4Other20.8Missing10.4Previous Mental Health LearningYes19078.2No5321.8Training program5723.5If yes, from where?Undergraduate course10643.6Post graduate course41.6Other229.1		Undergraduate	219	90.1
Degree ObtainedPhD10.4Other20.8Missing10.4Previous Mental Health LearningYes19078.2No5321.8If yes, from where?Training program5723.5If yes, from where?Undergraduate course10643.6Post graduate course41.6Other229.1		Masters	20	8.2
$\begin{array}{c cccc} & Other & 2 & 0.8 \\ \hline Missing & 1 & 0.4 \\ \hline Previous Mental Health Learning & Yes & 190 & 78.2 \\ \hline No & 53 & 21.8 \\ \hline If yes, from where? & Training program & 57 & 23.5 \\ \hline Undergraduate course & 106 & 43.6 \\ \hline Post graduate course & 4 & 1.6 \\ \hline Other & 22 & 9.1 \\ \hline Min i & Min & 22 & 0.2 \\ \hline \end{array}$	Degree Obtained	PhD	1	0.4
Missing10.4Previous Mental Health LearningYes19078.2No5321.8If yes, from where?Training program5723.5Undergraduate course10643.6Post graduate course41.6Other229.1		Other	2	0.8
Previous Mental Health LearningYes19078.2No5321.8If yes, from where?Training program5723.5Undergraduate course10643.6Post graduate course41.6Other229.1Minimized and the second sec		Missing	1	0.4
No5321.8Training program5723.5If yes, from where?Undergraduate course10643.6Post graduate course41.6Other229.1	Previous Mental Health Learning	Yes	190	78.2
Training program5723.5If yes, from where?Undergraduate course10643.6Post graduate course41.6Other229.1		No	53	21.8
If yes, from where?Undergraduate course10643.6Post graduate course41.6Other229.1		Training program	57	23.5
Post graduate course 4 1.6 Other 22 9.1	If yes, from where?	Undergraduate course	106	43.6
Other 22 9.1		Post graduate course	4	1.6
$M_{100}$ mag $5A$ $(11.1)$		Other Missing	22	9.1 22 2

Sample Demographics (n=243)

#### **Descriptive Statistics**

The means, standard deviation, and ranges for each variable of the four instruments used, and all their subscales, are reported in Table 2. The overall score of a scale is also reported where appropriate. To account for missing data, participants who failed to complete at least 80% of items on a scale or subscale were omitted. Cronbach's alpha for the complete instruments of interest are as follows: MHLQ,  $\alpha = .60$ ; ARTIC,  $\alpha = .81$ ; TWBS,  $\alpha = .92$ ; and SMH-SETS,  $\alpha = .92$ .

#### Table 2

Scale	Subcele	Time 1				Time 2					
Scale	Subscale	n	Min	Max	Ā	SD	n	Min	Max	Ā	SD
	Teaching in a MHC	242	1.81	5.00	3.64	0.56	242	2.73	5.00	4.15	0.44
	Expectancies	241	2.17	5.00	4.47	0.64	242	2.17	5.00	4.54	0.59
MHLQ	Prof. Relationships	241	2.67	5.00	4.14	0.54	242	2.89	5.00	4.36	0.46
	Role Clarity	241	3.00	5.00	4.86	0.36	240	3.00	5.00	4.89	0.30
	(Total)	242	3.00	5.00	4.28	0.36	240	3.00	5.00	4.49	0.33
	Underlying Causes	240	3.43	6.86	5.45	0.64	242	3.86	7.00	5.71	0.71
	Responses to Problem	240	2.71	7.00	5.52	0.71	242	3.57	7.00	5.74	0.83
	On-the-Job Behaviour	240	3.43	7.00	5.46	0.68	242	3.71	7.00	5.61	0.78
AKIIC	Self-Efficacy at Work	240	3.43	6.29	5.39	0.54	242	3.43	6.43	5.39	0.61
	Reactions to Work	240	2.57	6.71	5.43	0.70	242	3.57	6.71	5.61	0.77
	(Total)	240	3.43	6.57	5.45	0.49	242	3.94	6.77	5.61	0.61
	Workload	241	3.50	7.00	5.12	0.79	242	3.33	7.00	5.17	0.78
TWBS	Organization	241	3.17	6.83	5.16	0.80	242	2.50	7.00	5.19	0.79
	Student Interaction	241	3.75	7.00	5.37	0.71	242	3.50	7.00	5.23	0.70
SMH-SE	TS	243	1.86	6.00	4.05	0.68 242 3.00 6.00 4.59 0.56			0.56		

**Descriptive Statistics** 

#### **Relationships Between Measures**

Pearson correlations were calculated in order to investigate the relationship between the various scale and/or subscale scores of interests at Time 1 and Time 2 scores. As expected, significant correlations were detected between all of the instruments and/or subscales at both Time 1 and Time 2. These correlations were all significant at the p < .001 level. For example, a correlation of .42 (p < .01) was found between the MHLQ and the ARTIC total score (ARTIC-Total) at time 1, and a correlation of .60 (p < .01) was found between these measures for time 2. All the correlations are presented in Tables 3 and 4.

#### Table 3

		MHLQ	ARTIC- TOTAL	ARTIC-SE	TWBS	SMH-SETS
MILO	r	1	.42**	.48**	.29**	.61**
MHLQ	Ν	242	240	240	241	242
	r	.42**	1	.55**	.30**	.25**
AKIIC-IUIAL	Ν	240	240	240	239	240
ADTIC SE	r	.48**	.55**	1	.45**	.35**
AKTIC-SE	N	240	240	240	239	240
TWDC	r	.29**	.30**	.45**	1	.28**
IWDS	Ν	241	239	239	242	241
SMU SETS	r	.61**	.25**	.35**	.28**	1
SWIII-SEIS	N	242	240	240	241	243

Time 1 Pearson Correlation Matrix Between Instruments and Subscales of Interest

\*\*. Correlation is significant at the .001 level (2-tailed)

#### Table 4

Time 2 Pearson Correlation Matrix Between Instruments and Subscales of Interest

		MHLQ	ARTIC- TOTAL	ARTIC-SE	TWBS	SMH-SETS
	r	1	.60**	.56**	.38**	.54**
MILLQ	Ν	240	240	240	240	240
ΔΡΤΙΟ ΤΟΤΔΙ	r	.60**	1	.66**	.34**	.32**
AKIIC-IUIAL	Ν	240	242	242	242	242
ADTIC SE	r	.56**	.66**	1	.44**	.31**
AKTIC-SE	Ν	240	242	242	242	242
TWPS	r	.38**	.34**	.44**	1	.30**
IWDS	Ν	240	242	242	242	242
SMU SETS	r	.54**	.32**	.31**	.30**	1
SMI1-9E19	N	240	242	242	242	242

\*\*. Correlation is significant at the .001 level (2-tailed)

#### MANOVA

A one-way repeated measures MANOVA was conducted to explore the mental health literacy course's influence on the set of measures of interest, as follows: 1. The Teaching and Leading a Mentally Healthy Classroom subscale of the MHLQ, 2. The Self-Efficacy subscale of the ARTIC, 3. The total score of the ARTIC, 4. The Student Interaction Well-Being subscale of the TWBS, and 5. The School Mental Health Self Efficacy Teacher Survey. The omnibus test was significant, F(5,233) = 59.97, p < .001. The Teaching and Leading a Mentally Healthy Classroom subscale of the MHLQ (MHLQ-TLMHC) was chosen because it is comprehensive, and previous research has indicated that this subscale accounts for the majority of the variance for the MHLQ (Bird, 2020; Hatcher, 2018; Masters, 2019; Pandori-Chuckal, 2020). Concerning the ARTIC; the ARTIC-TOTAL and the ARTIC Self-Efficacy subscale (ARTIC-SE) were chosen as variables of interest due to the connection between trauma and mental health and the relevance to the study's objective. The Student Interaction Well-Being subscale of the TWBS (TWBS-SIWB) was chosen due to the established connections between students and teachers for student mental well-being, while the subscales regarding workload and organization were not as relevant to working with students (Bird, 2020). Additionally, since the mental health literacy course under evaluation places a high degree of importance on relationship building, this study tracks the TWBS-SIWB as an indicator of the effectiveness of the course. The School Mental Health Self Efficacy Teacher Survey (SMH-SETS) is a recently published measure that has both the specificity (in terms of measuring teacher self-efficacy for teaching students with mental health problems) and strong psychometric properties to evaluate this important dimension (Brann et al., 2020).

Univariate results indicate a significant effect of the mental health literacy course on scores of the MHLQ-TLMHC, F(1,237) = 195.48, p < .001, TWBS-SIWB, F(1,237) = 10.31, p < .01, ARTIC-TOTAL, F(1,237) = 35.01, p < .001, and the SMH-SETS, F(1,237) = 167.46, p < .001. A nonsignificant effect was detected for the ARTIC-SE, F(1,237) = .01, p < .05. Further results are shown in Table 5.

#### Table 1

Analysis	Effect	df	F	р	eta-squared
Multivariate	Overall	5,233	59.97	<.001**	.563
	SMH-SETS	1,237	167.46	<.001**	.414
	ARTIC-TOTAL	1, 237	35.05	<.001**	.129
Univariate	ARTIC-SE	1,237	0.01	.924	<.000
	MHLQ-TLMHC	1, 237	195.48	<.001**	.452
	TWBS-SIWB	1, 237	10.31	<.01*	.042

#### MANOVA Results

\* *p* < .05, \*\* *p* < .001

#### **Chapter 5: Discussion**

In order to leverage the time spent and relationships developed between educators and students, teachers need to feel prepared to interact with students who may need support for mental health concerns or illness; however, national surveys conducted in the past decade indicate that 97% of teachers feel underprepared to do so and are asking for further development opportunities in recognizing and understanding students' mental health concerns (Froese-Germain & Riel, 2012). It is important to consider, though, that teachers' knowledge in this area may not be sufficient to influence student mental health. Ultimately, regardless of the breadth, scope and quality of a course about mental health, knowledge is not the only predictor of behavioural or attitudinal change. Instead, knowledge may be most effective when it is accompanied by positive self-belief in teachers' capacity to help students with mental health concerns.

With this in mind it is argued there that teacher self-efficacy for student mental health can be the bridge between possessing knowledge and having a positive impact on the development of students who have mental health concerns (Cook & Kilmer, 2016). Not only would this help students with mental health concerns, but research has also demonstrated such competency development to be beneficial for the well-being of teachers themselves (Ekornes, 2016). Thus, this study investigated the impact that a mental health literacy course could have on preservice teachers' mental health self-efficacy, and the results are promising.

#### **Participation Characteristics**

From the 243 participants of this study, 79% were female, 20% were male, and 1% preferred not to answer. This distribution is close to the actual distribution found in the profession, i.e., in Ontario, data from 2017-2018 revealed that 76% of public-school teachers were female and 24% were male (Cole, 2021). Among the teacher candidates, considerable variability with respect to specialization, previous degree earned, stream of Bachelor of Education program in which they were enrolled was found. While 22% of participants indicated they had previous mental health learning prior to enrolling in the MHL course, such learning experiences are considered to be very different from a mental health literacy course. For example, workshops (e.g., Mental Health First AID) in mental health are usually short, very targeted, and specific. In contrast, the MHL course is structured over a 12-week time period, allowing preservice teachers to discuss mental health at school and collaborate and obtain

feedback from peers through discussion forums. Furthermore, national surveys conducted by the CTF have shown that 72% of teachers have reported to have never taken any mental health education courses prior to teaching, so the current sample aligns with this previous research with in-service teachers.

#### **Measures of Association**

One of the aims of this study was to investigate the associations between school mental health self-efficacy for teachers, attitudes toward trauma-informed care, teacher well-being, and mental health literacy. As hypothesized, results indicated significant associations between measures. As predicted, Pearson correlational analyses yielded results showing significant associations between all measures at both Time 1 and Time 2. This is not surprising, as all measures were asking questions about concepts shown to be related in previous literature such as mental health, work experiences, self-efficacy, mental health and relationship skills. There were some changes in the strength of the associations from Time 1 to Time 2, but as this was a program evaluation designed in a quasi-experimental framework, it cannot be concluded that any changes detected in the correlational analyses were due to the course. What can be interpreted, importantly, is that there is some connection between the dimensions of interest in that teacher self-efficacy is associated with mental health literacy, teacher well-being, and attitudes toward trauma-informed care. The next analyses were carried out to carefully examine these associations.

#### **Multivariate and Univariate Results**

The results of the multivariate repeated measures analyses demonstrated significant differences between Time 1 and Time 2 on the set of the measures of interest, namely the SMH-SETS, Factor 1 of the MHLQ, the total ARTIC scale and all subscales except for the SE scale, and all subscales of the TWBS. This is interpreted as evidence of efficacy in the course curriculum and successful achievement of relevant learning objectives. However, such changes are not solely attributable to the course given the research design.

Univariate tests provided further detailed analyses and revealed that while a significant difference based on time was detected for self-efficacy per the SMH-SETS, no significant effect was detected for self-efficacy per the ARTIC-SE subscale. Similar to what was stated before, this may be due to the differences between self-efficacy related to mental health and self-efficacy related to perspectives related to trauma-informed care. The SMH-SETS was created to assess

teacher mental health self-efficacy within the educational context so that schools could identify training and coaching support needs (Brann et al., 2020). On the other hand, the ARTIC (and the ARTIC-SE subscale) was originally created to assess the attitudes of service providers (not just teachers) in addressing the consequences of traumatic stress in the clients they serve (Baker et al., 2016). This difference in results may suggest that teacher self-efficacy about trauma is different from teacher self-efficacy for school mental health.

Interestingly, the total score of the ARTIC (ARTIC-TOTAL) increased significantly between pretest and post-test. This suggests from Time 1 to Time 2, the mental health literacy course may have influenced the way participants completed the other subscales of the ARTIC. In other words, the mental health literacy course may have had a role in changing preservice teachers' attitudes related to the underlying causes of behaviours, their on the job behaviour, and their own reactions to working with students who have experienced trauma. However, given the nonsignificant results of the ARTIC-SE, this did not extent to an increase but not in their selfefficacy in trauma. Thus, it is possible that simple knowledge in trauma-informed care is not enough to warrant a change in belief, or self-efficacy, in one's ability to address it. There may also be some overlap in the ways mental health literacy and attitudes towards trauma-informed care was taught. For example, universal trauma precautions, which is defined as the effort to reduce harm and provide emotional, physical and cultural support for all (Raja et al., 2015) closely related to the first tier of the intervention system that the mental health literacy course is informed by (i.e., the first tier is the universal approach).

Concerning the relationship component of the work of a teacher, the Student Interaction Well-Being (SIWB) subscale of the TWBS, the relationship observed was significant, indicating that as preservice teachers engaged in the mental health literacy course, their teachers' sense of well-being which is derived from their perception of their interactions with students (e.g., student motivation, student behaviour, student academic achievement, etc.) increased as well. This observation is interesting to note for two reasons. First, this subscale was partly chosen as a variable of interest due to its positive association with the ARTIC-SE subscale (Bird, 2020). Given that scores on the TWBS-SIWB subscale increased, while scores of the ARTIC-SE subscale did not, this may suggest that preservice teachers were exposed to lower rates of toxic stress in the classroom, and greater rates of mental health concerns. In this case, it may be that increased knowledge in mental health literacy led to better classroom management related to
mental health, which accounted for the increases in positive perceptions of student behaviour. It may also be that since a relationship between classroom mental health and academic achievement has been observed in the literature (Meldrum et al., 2009; Vaillancourt, 2013; Volk et al., 2006; Whitley et al., 2013), the positive increase in SIWB scores may be due to an increased confidence in ability to foster an environment conducive to positive relationships in the classroom success which would in turn lead to higher levels of SIWB and better academic engagement as measured by achievement.

An increase in classroom success would also explain the gains in the Teaching and Leading a Mentally Healthy Classroom (TLMHC) subscale of the MHLQ. For example, TLMHC subscale indicates the level of confidence that participants have toward displaying mentally healthy behaviours. This includes having a good understanding of mental health concerns and the various supports and strategies that exist in addressing mental health within the classroom setting. This sort of understanding has been shown the potential to decrease negative attitudes and stigma toward mental health for teachers (Mcluckie et al., 2014), supporting the idea that preservice teachers may have felt they increased their ability to create healthy classroom environments as a result of the mental health literacy course, subsequently bettering preservice teachers' belief in their capacity to lead a mentally healthy classroom (TWBS-TLMHC). Positive increases in the MHLQ-SIWB may also be due to the way the mental health literacy course was designed. Specifically, the course itself promotes the notion that in order to support student well-being, instructors must support their own well-being as well. Thus, it may be the case that preservice teachers learned how to increase their well-being as a result of the course itself.

It also stands to reason that as the mental health literacy course increased pedagogical knowledge, teachers' sense of competence increased as well, raising well-being levels. As Lauermann & König (2016) have stated, teachers' professional competence is a critical component and predictor of educator well-being and success. Professional competence, they define is defined as knowledge, skills, beliefs, and motivation, and is also linked to teaching specific self-efficacy and had an inverse relationship with burnout (Lauermann & König, 2016).

# **Self-Determination Theory**

The results produced by the mental health literacy course seem to compliment each other, as several of the construct observed had positive associations with each other, and classes were

afforded with more opportunities for student freedom. This is interpreted as the idea that the dimensions of autonomy, competence, and relatedness are embedded throughout the different instruments used. For example, autonomy is well represented in the TWBS organizational factor, competence is embedded within both the ARTIC self-efficacy and TWBS workload subscale, and relatedness is one of the subscales (reactions to work) used to obtain the ARTIC total score. Concerning the MHLQ, the development of this scale was based on formulating questions surrounding a sense of competence in nurturing mental health well-being and how to identify mental health concerns of students, and a sense of relatedness in asking questions related to communication and conflict resolution was also incorporated (Hatcher, 2018). Overall, given the positive effects of self-efficacy that were detected in the current study, it can be argued that there is some support for SDT as a relevant theory for explaining motivation for teacher candidates. These results also substantiate other research that has reported that those teachers who score in the lower ranges on these dimensions are more likely to experience negative outcomes; for example, in the absence of relatedness, competence and autonomy, teachers are more likely prone to burnout and have job dissatisfaction (Power & Goodnough, 2019).

#### **Implications for Teacher Education**

The literature is consistent in its findings that teachers are not ready to promote classroom mental health or in being equipped to identify and support students in this capacity (Gowers et al., 2004; Levine Brown et al., 2017; Ohrt et al., 2022; Rodger et al., 2014; Rothi et al., 2008). Teachers are also honest about this gap in their knowledge, and they are neither content with nor passive about this lack of proficiency (Gowers et al., 2004; Forese-Germain & Riel, 2012; Rodger et al., 2014; Weston et al., 2008). As previously mentioned, the CTF's national survey on teachers found that 97% of respondents indicated a desire for professional development opportunities that relate to mental health (Froese-Germain & Riel, 2012). When teachers were asked what their opinions are related to the barriers impeding student mental health service provision, according to the CTF's national survey, teachers' top four responses were: 1. Insufficient school-based mental health professionals; 2. Lack of adequate training in addressing student mental health; 3. Lack of funding, and 4. A lack of community-based mental health professionals (Froese-Germain & Riel, 2012).

As it turns out, teachers are acutely in tune with the inadequacy of the student and youth mental health support systems. Their evaluations on barriers to student mental health provision

are all accurate: there exist severe support staff shortages (e.g., school psychologists) in schools (Saklofske et al., 2007), a lack of national mental health literacy curriculum in BEd programs (Rodger et al., 2014), exorbitant increases in mental health rates in the past couple of decades (Chiu et al., 2020), and funding for support for child and youth mental health centres has decreased by half of its original allocated amount over the past quarter-century (CMHO, 2019). Despite the failure related to mental health service provision in supporting youth mental health, the values of the teaching profession require that, on top of regular job expectations (e.g., planning, carrying out a lesson plan, grading, supervising, etc.), teachers are required to notice and act accordingly when mental health manifests itself in the classroom (Wang et al., 2015; Gray et al., 2017). Inevitably, however, teachers realize they lack competencies in mental health, that the supporting structure is lacking, and that mental health rates have drastically worsened. This causes teachers to become dissatisfied, burnt out, and even leave the profession as a result (Betoret, 2006; Brann et al., 2020; Brouwers & Tomic, 1999; Ekornes, 2016).

In order to negate the negative spiral related to burnout, the teacher education experience needs to be revamped. Fortunately, the results of this study indicate improving self-efficacy through mental health literacy is possible, and increasing self-efficacy has positive outcomes related to trauma-informed care, interactions with students, and the ability to build a mentally healthy classroom environment. This program evaluation suggests that incorporating a 12-week mental health literacy course influenced preservice teachers' confidence and ability in interacting with student with mental health concerns and provides encouragement that there is a lot of optimism to be had surrounding the idea of an entire program which emphasizes these competencies. Given the implications of such results for the well-being of both teachers and students, the need to incorporate mental health literacy in all teacher candidates becomes even more compelling.

These results point to the possibilities and promise of shifting the behavioural and attitudinal components of teacher self-efficacy for school mental health, allowing or enhancing positive interactions between teacher and student. This is important, based on the limited time that teachers have with their students each day, and the potential for that time to be impactful. For example, in Ontario—excluding recess and breaks between classes—the minimum instructional time for primary school students is 5 hours a day over 188 instructional days in a given year (Statistics Canada, 2011). This translates to 940 hours of interaction between teacher and student per year, providing many opportunities for these instructors to help students learn, thrive and build well-being from an early age. Universal and targeted school mental health programming and resources (Tiers 1 and 2) have been implemented in many schools and school districts and show some promise in the prevention of mental health concerns and promotion of good mental health in children and youth, although high quality research is lacking (Salerno, 2016). Even so, evidence converges on the positive effects of teachers on student well-being (see, for example, Phillippo & Kelly, 2013). This is an important avenue for possible strengthening of student well-being because as reported by Georgiades et al. (2019), more than 66% of youth struggling with a mental illness go without treatment from a mental health professional.

In order to meet the needs of the community and the professionals who work within them, professional education must stay current, relevant and responsive. Rather than viewing the Bachelor of Education experience as a collection of separate courses that teaches candidates in distinct and discrete ways, the programs need to be focused on ways to prepare preservice teachers to transition into the professional practice of teaching within communities. Fortunately, the results of this study indicate improving self-efficacy through mental health literacy is possible, and research reviewed previously converges to suggest that increasing self-efficacy has positive outcomes related to trauma-informed care, well-being and student engagement. This notion is also substantiated by the literature, as self-efficacy has been linked to teacher confidence, job commitment and satisfaction, well-being, and sense of accomplishment (Bird et al., 2020; McCallum et al., 2017; Zee et al., 2016).

If the educational system can equip teachers with the tools to notice and to point students and families to resources within their grasps, such as school counsellors and psychologists providing intermediary relief, these efforts would have many positive implications. For example, this may translate to increased academic support for students with mental health concerns, as this demographic has been deemed to be at an academic disadvantage when compared to their peers (Allen et al., 2017). This would also have the added benefit of providing relief support and a shared sense of allyship to the parents of these students as well. In Ontario, 1 in 4 parents reportedly miss work to care of their children due to bouts of anxiety, 1 in 3 parents are actively seeking supports for mental health concerns for their son or daughter, and of those who sought services, 4 in 10 were not successful in finding proper support or were put on a waitlist (CMHO, 2019). Thus, teacher education in this domain could translate to alleviating some of the stresses that student with mental health concerns have, substantiating the perception that teachers can act as crucial student mental health "front-line workers" (Rothi et al., 2008).

The need to incorporate education in trauma-informed care is also an imperative. However, as this study has shown, it seems that mental health literacy and knowledge about trauma may be two separate distinct constructs. Given the high degree of mental health problems among those who have experienced trauma (Sweeney et al., 2018), this finding is somewhat surprising; however, upon reflection it may mean that people are more attuned to mental health concerns compared to the sequelae of trauma. This is important to note for educational policy makers who wish to create professional development opportunities for teachers, i.e., knowledge and self-efficacy in mental health does not translate to knowledge and self-efficacy in terms of supporting students who have experienced trauma (and vice versa).

While this study did not centrally locate itself with how trauma-informed care could be fostered within a preservice curriculum, research has suggested that this is both possible and effective (Bird, 2020; Jaycox, 2003; Sugai & Horner, 2006; Michael et al., 2014; Yeo, 2021), and using a trauma-informed, evidence-based framework leads to wide-ranging benefits. For example, Michael and colleagues (2014) observed psychoeducation through a trauma-informed lens has resulted in teachers being able to build better rapport, enhance relatability, and improved teachers' ability to notice and attend to student needs. A trauma-informed perspective may also benefit behavioural management of students; for example, teachers who strived to eliminate loud and sudden noises during class (due to it being potentially triggering) have found that this also aided overall student behavioural improvement in the classroom (Sugai & Horner, 2006; Michael et al., 2014). Moreover, teachers with trauma-informed knowledge have been observed to have better student-teacher dynamics by way of enhanced communication and connectedness, and reduced rigidness (Jaycox, 2003), and it has also led to teachers feeling and responding in a better-prepared and more competent way in the event of crises (Michael et al., 2014). Finally, major components of a trauma-informed perspective in the classroom emphasize predictability, clear expectations, and a consistent routine as a basis for student-teacher interactions-all of which have shown the ability to foster a calm and supportive atmosphere for students (Michael et al., 2014). Thus, the incorporation of mental health literacy and a trauma-informed framework are both suggested as essential to high-quality teacher education.

#### **Implications for Mental Health Professionals Working in Schools**

Within the education system, a key contributor to supporting student mental health stem from the support staff who surround teachers. Unfortunately, however, a severe shortage of such support staff exists in this domain. For example, children with special needs would typically need help from an educational assistant to engage equitably in school activities. Yet, some school boards have had staffing shortages at "crisis levels" (CBC, 2021), leaving students largely unsupported. Educational assistants provide support for children with identified special needs in the classroom. There is no such support for those students with (unidentified or undocumented) maltreatment, trauma or mental health problems, or misidentified behavioural problems. This lack of supports means that students who are identified with an exceptionality experience additional difficulties and who require additional supports can end up in regular classrooms with no support, making teaching and managing a classroom far more challenging. In these situations, as in the case for addressing identified mental health concerns or other exceptionalities in the classroom, the need for consultation, and professional development opportunities, are essential.

Key support staff members who offer consultation to teachers and also provide direct support to students with mental health concerns are school psychologists. Yet, despite a national recommended ratio of school psychologist per student being at 1:1000 (Saklofske et al., 2007), estimates of the average ratio in Ontario range between 1:2222 to 1:8000 (Association of Chief Psychologists with Ontario School Boards, 2016; Bird, 2020), creating another area of need within schools. This is an especially critical need given that school psychologists respond directly to student needs, understand how mental health concerns translate into classroom challenges, and collaborate with teachers in creating appropriate and achievable goals and recommendations for students (Ontario Psychological Association, 2013). Thus, mental health literacy and self-efficacy gained through professional education and development could improve teachers' responses to student mental health-related challenges while faced with a shortage of school psychologists. Mental health literacy could promote learning opportunities and dialogues between school psychologists and teachers that are more fruitful for teachers, as their education would have allowed them to ask more pertinent questions related to classroom management and support them to be vitally important members of student success services and specialist groups in schools. In the absence of support staff, knowledge, and self-efficacy in school mental health literacy, teachers are often left on their own to figure out how to appropriately address student

needs, potentially missing opportunities to help in meaningful ways. For example, mental health literacy would allow teachers to have enhanced understanding regarding why a student might be behaving in a way that is not expected or appropriate to the situation at hand. If, for instance, a student with anxiety is singled out and disciplined for an undesired classroom behaviour such as shutting down, the anxiety and behaviour of the student would worsen, and the student-teacher dynamic would flounder.

### **Strength and Limitations**

#### Strengths

One of the strengths of this study is that it fills an identified gap (Rothi et al., 2008; Weston et al 2008). That is, in the mental health literacy educational context, a large body of research surrounds the impact that education and training in this domain has on both teachers (Kutcher et al., 2015, Kutcher et al., 2013; Powers et al., 2014; Vieria et al., 2014) and students (Kutcher & Wei, 2014; Ojio et al., 2018); however, fewer studies have observed the impact that this has had on teacher candidates (Armstrong et al., 2015; Atkins & Rodger, 2016; Bird, 2020; Bostock et al., 2011; Carr et al., 2018). Furthermore, from the body of research that has investigated mental health literacy with preservice teachers, few have observed its impact within the context of a comprehensive mental health literacy course in a post-secondary institute (Bird, 2020), making this study a contributor to an understudied part of the literature. Additionally, while many conceptualizations of MHL have been geared toward symptomology and illness recognition (Bird, 2020), the operationalization of MHL per the course that preservice teachers learned heavily strayed from the psychiatric model. Instead, the course under evaluation here was geared toward educators in that MHL was defined more from the educational context and less from the medical model, allowing it to be more relevant for the teacher candidates. This also may lead to more engagement with the material (Rothi et al., 2008), and in this way may serve as a good model for adoption by future researchers.

### Limitations

The main limitation that this study was that it did not track longitudinal data. Since pretest and post-test scores separated by only four months were collected, this study is limited by way of understanding whether the gains observed will maintain over time. Another limitation was the homogeneity of the sample, i.e., participants were from the same Canadian university, and they were all second-year students who took the MHL course as part of a mandatory requirement of their program. Importantly, as a program evaluation this study could not control for learning opportunities and experiences outside the course itself, and many other factors such as history, experiential learning, mentors and other program features could have all contributed to the developing of self-efficacy, well-being, trauma-informed care, and mental health literacy knowledge and proficiency.

#### **Future Research**

While the results of this study were promising, future work could refine and expand both the concept of mental health literacy and the course components themselves. For example, a study which conducts a multiple regression analysis to investigate how each of the scales of interest individually contribute to the prediction of the variables of interest could serve as a basis for how to optimally construct a mental health literacy course. In this way, a better understanding of the most important of factors could be obtained, providing clues to tailor school curriculum that incorporates mental health literacy effectively and efficiently. This may also help postsecondary institutions in their development of an optimally suited mental health literacy curricula. Currently, this area of the literature is lacking, and university mandates for the implementation of mental health literacy courses has yet to become widespread (Brown et al., 2019, Rodger et al., 2014).

Additionally, this study used quantitative data and analyses. While a quantitative design was used here, future research that used a mixed-methods approach would allow for richer insight into the reasons why self-efficacy, attitudes toward trauma, well-being, and knowledge about MHL are being influenced (Caruth, 2013). For example, this would allow researchers to ask participants which facet of the course they found most useful, allowing for the analysis of themes that could also help to improve the future delivery of the course contents. Inquires which involve a larger and more representative sample that includes both preservice and in-service teachers in the primary, elementary, and secondary school system would also improve generalizability. While this study did not keep track of preservice teachers' pupils and their academic achievement, there would also be merit in tracking student achievement as instructors learned about mental health literacy and related variables. This would provide additional information as to how students are responding to these gains in teacher competencies. Lastly, future research needs to prioritize developing a consensus surrounding mental health literacy as a

construct. This is crucial to ensure consistent and valid operationalization of the term, so that findings may be interpreted and incorporated into real-world settings.

### Conclusion

This study investigated the impact that a mental health literacy course has on preservice teachers' sense of self-efficacy in addressing mental health concerns, attitudes related to traumainformed care, well-being, and knowledge in mental health literacy promotion. Robust findings indicate that all these areas could be considerably improved, suggesting that teachers could maximize their potential in their unique roles as educators and facilitators of student success.

The importance of incorporating these findings and infusing mental health literacy into a preservice component cannot be understated. Teachers have indicated a lack of education and preparedness when interacting with students with mental health concerns (Froese-Germain & Riel, 2012) and mental health rates have continued to worsen in recent years (Chiu et al., 2020). In order to address the heart of this issue and prepare preservice candidates for their roles as inservice teachers, a reconceptualization of the teaching profession as a whole is needed. Starting with educational policy makers, a dialogue surrounding which elements of a teacher's education truly matters must be had. As Darling-Hammond (2006) puts it, "schools of education must design programs that help prospective teachers to understand deeply a wide array of things about learning, social and cultural contexts, and teaching and be able to enact these understandings in complex classrooms serving increasingly diverse students; in addition, if prospective teachers are to succeed at this task, schools of education must design programs that transform the kinds of settings in which novices learn to teach and later become teachers" (p. 302).

Revamping the educational process and incorporating the necessary mental health supports will not be simple or straightforward. Policy advisors, teachers, preservice curriculum, and school boards need to align their agendas and locate student well-being at the centre of its vision towards the ideals of professional practice. This is a dynamic and continuous process that needs to be shaped by societal, political, and cultural forces; in other words, as the needs of our communities evolve, so do the needs of our students, our teachers, and the education that is guiding them.

As a starting point, within the school board level, directors need to concern themselves more with the needs that is expressed by their internal stakeholders (e.g., teachers, support staff, principals, etc.) and less with external influences (e.g., public perception). A disheartening example of a failure to do so occurred earlier this year, as a large school board in southwestern Ontario reported "an all-time high graduation rate of 84 percent for 2020-21, even as markers like exams were cancelled for the last two years due to the pandemic ... [crediting] 'the precise work' of student success teams in high schools for the achievement" (Rivers, 2022). Despite graduation rate being touted as a marker of success, this statement is a gross misrepresentation of what has been occurring in schools. As a graduate student who interned at this same school board during my studies while also being an active member of a student success team at a secondary school, discourse with staff (i.e., principals, vice-principals, school psychologists, social workers, and teachers) made it evident that an exorbitant number of students—much greater than years past—were passing at the 50–53% range. Put differently, teachers were boosting their pupil's mark so that they simply received a credit to graduate, leading the internal consensus to believe that the learning loss was extremely profound, and the 84% graduation rate is an entirely inaccurate metric of success. In order to truly locate student well-being at the centre of forward progress, the current disconnect between directors and stakeholders needs to improve so that a clear outline of relevant stakeholder needs may be addressed. Doing so would allow teachers to be heard, supported, and feel empowered, and students could only benefit as a result.

While this is a tall task, there is optimism to be had. Teachers overwhelmingly express a desire in obtaining professional refinement and further education in mental health related competencies (Froese-Germain & Riel, 2012). This indicates they would be receptive to new professional developmental seminars and workshops in this area. In order to compliment the change needed within primary and secondary schools, a revision of tertiary education concerning the Bachelor of Education curriculum is also required. In Canada, mandatory mental health literacy courses that emphasize a strong relational component and that offer direct strategies on implementation are still, somehow, lacking. The preservice education that candidates receive is perhaps the best preventative measure to safeguarding teachers' feeling inadequate in the realm of mental health down the line in their careers.

As the results of this study indicate, doing so could yield promising results. After all, a singular 12-week mental health literacy course was able to drastically improve preservice self-efficacy, attitudes towards trauma-informed care, interactions with students, the ability to create a mentally healthy climate. Suppose an entire preservice education program followed a similar model and drew from an interconnected range of mental health literacy supports in a holistically

integrated manner? In that case, it stands to reason that the implications for students, families and teachers would be far more impactful and numerous in scope.

#### References

- Allen, K. A., Kern, M. L., Vella-Brodrick, D., & Waters, L. (2017). School values: A comparison of academic motivation, mental health promotion, and school belonging with student achievement. *The Educational and Developmental Psychologist*, 34(1), 31-47. https://doi.org/10.1017/edp.2017.5
- American Psychological Association (2014). Stress in American: Are Teens Adopting Adults' Stress Habits? Stress in America™ Survey. American Psychological Association: Washington DC. Retrieved June 2021 from https://www.apa.org/news/press/releases/stress/2013/stress-report.pdf

Anderson, M., Werner-Seidler, A., King, C., Gayed, A., Harvey, S. B., & O'Dea, B. (2019).
Mental health training programs for secondary school teachers: a systematic review. *School Mental Health*, *11*(3), 489-508. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12310-018-9291-</u>

- Andrews, A., McCabe, M., & Wideman-Johnston, T. (2014). Mental health issues in the schools:
  Are educators prepared? *The Journal of Mental Health Training, Education and Practice,* 9(4), 261- 272. doi:10.1108/JMHTEP-11-2013-0034
- Armstrong, D., Price, D., & Crowley, T. (2015). Thinking it through: a study of how teacher candidates respond to children who present with possible mental health difficulties. Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties, 20(4), 381-397.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13632752.2015.1019248">https://doi.org/10.1080/13632752.2015.1019248</a>
- Association of Chief Psychologists with Ontario School Boards. (2016). ACPOSB. Retrieved from <u>http://www.acposb.on.ca.proxy1.lib.uwo.ca/index.html</u>
- Atkins, M., & Rodger, S. (2016). Pre-service teacher education for mental health and inclusion in schools. *Exceptionality Education International*, 26(2), 93-118. https://doi.org/10.5206/eei.v26i2.7742
- Baker, C. N., Brown, S. M., Wilcox, P. D., Overstreet, S., & Arora, P. (2016). Development and psychometric evaluation of the Attitudes Related to Trauma-Informed Care (ARTIC) scale. *School Mental Health*, 8(1), 61-76. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12310-015-9161-0</u>
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. Freeman.

2

Bandura, A. (2006). Guide for constructing self-efficacy scales. In F. Pajares, & T. Urdan (Eds.), Self-efficacy beliefs of adolescents (pp. 307-337). Information Age Publishing.

- Bandura, A. (2009). Social cognitive theory goes global. *The Psychologist*, 22(6), 504–506. https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2009-08932-006
- Banting, K., & Myles, J. (2016). Framing the new inequality: The politics of income redistribution in Canada. *Income Inequality: The Canadian Story*, 509-536.
- Berman, P., McLaughlin, M., Bass, G., Pauly, E., & Zellman, G. (1977). Federal programs supporting educational change. In Factors affecting implementation and continuation (Vol. VII). Santa Monica, CA: The Rand Corp. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED140432</u>
- Betoret, F. D. (2006). Stressors, self-efficacy, coping resources, and burnout among secondary school teachers in Spain. *Educational Psychology*, 26, 519-539. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410500342492</u>
- Bird, R. L. (2020). Standing on the forefront of school mental health: Building upon capacity in teacher candidates through mental health literacy and trauma-and-violence-informed-care (Publication No. 6931) [Doctoral Dissertation, University of Western Ontario].
  Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository. <u>https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/6931</u>
- Black, P. J., Woodworth, M., Tremblay, M., & Carpenter, T. (2012). A review of traumainformed treatment for adolescents. *Canadian Psychology/Psychologie Canadienne*, 53(3), 192. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0028441</u>
- Blank, L., Baxter, S., Goyder, E., Guillaume, L., Wilkinson, A., Hummel, S., et al. (2009).
  Systematic review of the effectiveness of universal interventions which aim to promote emotional and social well-being in secondary schools. *Interventions*, 56(4.5), 1. Retrieved October 25, 2020, from <a href="https://www.sheffield.ac.uk/polopoly\_fs/1.44221!/file/Well-being-in-schools.pdf">https://www.sheffield.ac.uk/polopoly\_fs/1.44221!/file/Well-being-in-schools.pdf</a>
- Bostock, J. A., Kitt, R., & Kitt, C. (2011). Why wait until qualified? The benefits and experiences of undergoing mental health awareness training for PGCE students. Pastoral Care in Education, 29(2), 103-115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02643944.2011.573494</u>
- Boyle, M. H., Georgiades, K., Duncan, L., Comeau, J., Wang, L., & 2014 Ontario Child Health Study Team. (2019). The 2014 Ontario child health study—methodology. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 64(4), 237-245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0706743719833675</u>
- Brann, K. L., Boone, W. J., Splett, J. W., Clemons, C., & Bidwell, S. L. (2020). Development of the School Mental Health Self-Efficacy Teacher Survey Using Rasch Analysis. *Journal*

*of Psychoeducational Assessment*, 039(02) 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0734282920947504</u>

- Braun, S. E. (2019). Teachers' Occupational Health and Well-Being: Antecedents,
   Consequences, and Prospects for Change [Doctoral Dissertation]. *ProQuest Dissertations Publishing*, #28123382. Retrieved from
   https://www.proquest.com/openview/1be7e0e1ae1103a6a49cca8acfcb8123
- Brouwers, A., & Tomic, W. (1999). Teacher burnout, perceived self-efficacy in classroom management, and student disruptive behaviour in secondary education. *Curriculum and Teaching*, 14, 7-26. <u>https://doi.org/10.7459/ct/14.2.02</u>
- Brown, E. L., Phillippo, K. L., Weston, K., & Rodger, S. (2019). United States and Canada preservice teacher certification standards for student mental health: A comparative case study. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 80, 71–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2018.12.015
- Browne, G., Gafni, A., Roberts, J., Byrne, C., & Majumdar, B. (2004). Effective/efficient mental health programs for school-age children: A synthesis of reviews. *Social Science and Medicine*, 58(7), 1367–1384. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(03)00332-0</u>
- Cadman, D., Boyle, M. H., & Offord, D. R. (1988). The Ontario Child Health Study: social adjustment and mental health of siblings of children with chronic health problems. *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics*. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1988-33121-001</u>
- Canadian Alliance on Mental Illness and Mental Health (CAMIMH). Mental health literacy in Canada: Phase one report mental health literacy project. Ottawa (ON): CAMIMH; 2007
- Carr, W., Wei, Y., Kutcher, S., & Heffernan, A. (2018). Preparing for the classroom: Mental health knowledge improvement, stigma reduction and enhanced help-seeking efficacy in Canadian preservice teachers. *Canadian Journal of School Psychology*, 33(4), 314-326. https://doi.org/10.1177/0829573516688596
- Caruth, G. D. (2013). Demystifying mixed methods research design: A review of the literature. Online Submission, 3(2), 112-122. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED544121</u>
- CBC/Radio Canada. (2021, October 25). *More educational support workers needed to fix staffing 'crisis' within Public Schools, union says.* Canadian Broadcasting Corporation.

Retrieved April 15, 2022, from <u>https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/windsor/windsor-</u> education-needs-1.6224242

- Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. (2015). *Mental illness and addiction: facts Facts and statistics*. Retrieved October 20, 2020, from <u>https://www.camh.ca/en/driving-change/the-crisis-is-real/mental-health-statistics</u>
- Children's Mental Health Ontario. (2019). Annual report card: The burden of kids mental illness on families and the economy. IPSOS. Retrieved December 20<sup>th</sup>, 2021, from: https://cmho.org/wp-content/uploads/CMHO\_ReportCard\_web-min-1.pdf
- Chiu, M., Gatov, E., Fung, K., Kurdyak, P., & Guttmann, A. (2020). Deconstructing The Rise In Mental Health–Related ED Visits Among Children And Youth In Ontario, Canada. *Health Affairs*, 39(10), 1728–1736. <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.00232</u>
- Collie, R. J. (2014). Understanding teacher well-being and motivation: Measurement, theory, and change over time (Doctoral dissertation, University of British Columbia).
- Collie, R. J.; Shapka, J. D.; Perry, N. E.; Martin, A. J. (2015). Teacher Well-Being: Exploring Its Components and a Practice-Oriented Scale. *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment*, 33(8), 744–756. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0734282915587990</u>
- Colucci, E., Szwarc, J., Minas, H., Paxton, G., & Guerra, C. (2014). The utilisation of mental health services by children and young people from a refugee background: a systematic literature review. *International Journal of Culture and Mental Health*, 7(1), 86-108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17542863.2012.713371</u>
- Comeau, J., Georgiades, K., Duncan, L., Wang, L., Boyle, M. H., & 2014 Ontario Child Health Study Team. (2019). Changes in the prevalence of child and youth mental disorders and perceived need for professional help between 1983 and 2014: evidence from the Ontario Child Health Study. The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry, 64(4), 256-264. https://doi.org/10.1177/0706743719830035
- Comeu, J., Georgiades, K., Duncan, L., Wang, L., Boyle, M. H., & 2014 Ontario Child Health Study Team. (2019). Changes in the Prevalence of Child and Youth Mental Disorders and Perceived Need for Professional Help between 1983 and 2014: Evidence from the Ontario Child Health Study. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 64(4), 256-264. https://doi.org/10.1177/0706743719830035

- Cook, J. R., & Kilmer, R. P. (2010). Defining the scope of systems of care: An ecological perspective. Evaluation and Program Planning, 33, 18-20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2009.05.006
- Darling-Hammond, L. (2006). Constructing 21st-Century Teacher Education. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 57(3), 300–314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487105285962</u>
- Deaton, J. D., Ohrt, J. H., Linich, K., Wymer, B., Toomey, M., Lewis, O., ... Newton, T. (2022). Teachers' experiences with K-12 students' mental health. *Psychology in the Schools*, 59(5), 932–949. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22658</u>
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2008). Facilitating optimal motivation and psychological well-being across life's domains. *Canadian Psychology*, 49, 14–23. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0708-5591.49.1.14</u>
- Dods, J. (2016). Teacher candidate mental health and mental health literacy. *Exceptionality Education International*, 26(2), 42-61.
- Downey, D. B., & Pribesh, S. (2004). When race matters: Teachers' evaluations of students' classroom behavior. *Sociology of Education*, 77(4), 267-282. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177%2F003804070407700401</u>
- Dwyer, S. B., Nicholson, J. M., & Battistutta, D. (2006). Parent and teacher identification of children at risk of developing internalizing or externalizing mental health problems: A comparison of screening methods. Prevention Science, 7(4), 343-357. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-006-0026-5
- Ekornes, S. M. (2016). School Mental Health-Teacher Views. An Exploratory Study of Teachers' Perceived Role, Competence and Responsibility in Student Mental Health Promotion. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research (61)*3, 333-353. https://doi.org/10.1080/00313831.2016.1147068
- Franklin, C., Kim, J. S., Beretvas, T. S., Zhang, A., Guz, S., Park, S., et al. (2017). The effectiveness of psychosocial interventions delivered by teachers in schools: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 20(3), 333– 350. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10567-017-0235-4</u>
- Fraser, J. W. (2007). *Preparing America's teachers: A history*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.

- Frasquilho, D., Matos, M. G., Salonna, F., Guerreiro, D., Storti, C. C., Gaspar, T., & Caldas-de-Almeida, J. M. (2015). Mental health outcomes in times of economic recession: a systematic literature review. *BMC public health*, 16(1), 115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-016-2720-y</u>
- Froese-Germain, B., & Riel, R. (2012). Understanding Teachers' Perspectives on Student Mental Health: Findings from a National Survey. Retrieved October 20, 2020, from <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED544259.pdf</u>
- Gardner, W., Nicholls, S. G., Reid, G. J., Hutton, B., Hamel, C., Sikora, L., Salamatmanesh, M., Duncan, L., Georgiades, K., & Gilliland, J. (2020). A protocol for a scoping review of equity measurement in mental health care for children and youth. *Systematic reviews*, 9(1), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-020-01495-3
- Georgiades, K., Duncan, L., Wang, L., Comeau, J., & Boyle, M. H. (2019). Six-Month Prevalence of Mental Disorders and Service Contacts among Children and Youth in Ontario: Evidence from the 2014 Ontario Child Health Study. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 64(4), 246–255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0706743719830024</u>
- Government of Canada. (2006). *The human face of mental health and mental illness in Canada*. Retrieved October 20, 2020, from <u>www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/publicat/human-humain06/pdf/human\_face\_e.pdf</u>
- Gowers, S., Thomas, S., & Deeley, S. (2004). Can primary schools contribute effectively to tier I child mental health services? *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 9, 419–425. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1359104504043924</u>
- Graham, A., Phelps, R., Maddison, C., & Fitzgerald, R. (2011). Supporting children's mental health in schools: teacher views. *Teachers and Teaching*, 17(4), 479– 496. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2011.580525</u>
- Gray, C., Wilcox, G., & Nordstokke, D. (2017). Teacher mental health, school climate, inclusive education and student learning: A review. *Canadian Psychology*, 58(3), 203-210. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/cap0000117</u>
- Hadlaczky, G., Hökby, S., Mkrtchian, A., Carli, V., & Wasserman, D. (2014). Mental health first aid is an effective public health intervention for improving knowledge, attitudes, and behaviour: A meta-analysis. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 26(4), 467–475. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/09540261.2014.924910</u>

- Halladay, J., Bennett, K., Weist, M., Boyle, M., Manion, I., Campo, M., & Georgiades, K. (2020). Teacher-student relationships and mental health help seeking behaviors among elementary and secondary students in Ontario Canada. *Journal of School Psychology*, 81, 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2020.05.003</u>
- Hare, J., & Pidgeon, M. (2011). The way of the warrior: Indigenous youth navigating the challenges of schooling. *Canadian Journal of Education/Revue canadienne de l'éducation*, 34(2), 93-111.
- Hastings, R. P., & Bham, M. S. (2003). The relationship between student behaviour patterns and teacher burnout. *School Psychology International*, 24(1), 115-127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0143034303024001905</u>
- Hatcher, A. K. (2018). Measuring mental health literacy in education [Master's thesis, Western University, London, Canada]. Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository (#5313)
   Retrieved from <a href="https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/5313">https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/5313</a>
- Henggeler, S. W. (1994). A consensus: Conclusions of the APA task force report on innovative models of mental health services for children, adolescents, and their families. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 23(Suppl), 3–6. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1996-02626-001</u>
- Hoagwood, K. E., Serene Olin, S., Kerker, B. D., Kratochwill, T. R., Crowe, M., & Saka, N. (2007). Empirically based school interventions targeted at academic and mental health functioning. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, *15*(2), 66–92. https://doi.org/10.1177/10634266070150020301
- Holt, S. B., & Gershenson, S. (2019). The impact of demographic representation on absences and suspensions. *Policy Studies Journal*, 47(4), 1069-1099. https://doi.org/10.1111/psj.12229
- Honsinger, C., & Brown, M. H. (2019). Preparing Trauma-Sensitive Teachers: Strategies for Teacher Educators. *Teacher Educators' Journal*, 12, 129-152. Retrieved June 2021 from <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1209431</u>
- Jaycox, L. (2003). Cognitive-behavioral intervention for trauma in schools. Longmont, CO: Sopris West Educational Services.
- Jorm, A. F. (2018). Australia's 'Better Access' scheme: Has it had an impact on population mental health?. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 52(11), 1057-1062.

- Jorm, A. F., Korten, A. E., Jacomb, P. A., Christensen, H., Rodgers, B., & Pollitt, P. (1997).
  "Mental health literacy": a survey of the public's ability to recognise mental disorders and their beliefs about the effectiveness of treatment. *Medical journal of Australia, 166*(4), 182-186. <u>https://doi.org/10.5694/j.1326-5377.1997.tb140071.x</u>
- Kaba, R., & Sooriakumaran, P. (2007). The evolution of the doctor-patient relationship. *International journal of surgery*, *5*(1), 57-65.
- Kessler, R. C., Berglund, P., Demler, O., Jin, R., Merikangas, K. R., & Walters, E. E. (2005). Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the national comorbidity survey replication. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 62(6), 593–602. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.62.6.593</u>
- Keyes, C. L. M. (2002). The Mental Health Continuum: From Languishing to Flourishing in Life. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 43(2), 207. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3090197</u>
- Kieling, C., Baker-Henningham, H., Belfer, M., Conti, G., Ertem, I., Omigbodun, O., Rohde, L. A., Srinath, S., Ulkuer, N., Rahman, A., & Rahman, A. (2011). Child and adolescent mental health worldwide: evidence for action. *The Lancet*, 378(9801), 1515–1525. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(11)60827-1</u>
- Koller, J. R., & Bertel, J. M. (2006). Responding to today's mental health needs of children, families and schools: revisiting the preservice training and preparation of school-based personnel. *Education and treatment of children*, 197-217. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2006-09931-003</u>
- Korthagen, F. A., & Evelein, F. G. (2016). Relations between student teachers' basic needs fulfillment and their teaching behavior. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 60, 234-244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2016.08.021
- Kutcher, S., & Wei, Y. (2014). School mental health literacy: a national curriculum guide shows promising results. Education Canada, 54(2), 22-26.
- Kutcher, S., Gilberds, H., Morgan, C., Greene, R., Hamwaka, K., & Perkins, K. (2015).
   Improving Malawian teachers' mental health knowledge and attitudes: an integrated school mental health literacy approach. Global Mental Health, 2.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1017/gmh.2014.8">https://doi.org/10.1017/gmh.2014.8</a>

- Kutcher, S., Wei, Y., & Hashish, M. (2018). Schools and Mental Health: Is Some Necessary Reexamining in Order? The Springer Series on Human Exceptionality, 83–101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-89842-1\_6</u>
- Kutcher, S., Wei, Y., McLuckie, A., & Bullock, L. (2013). Educator mental health literacy: a programme evaluation of the teacher training education on the mental health & high school curriculum guide. Advances in School Mental Health Promotion, 6(2), 83-93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1754730X.2013.784615</u>

Lacoe, J., & Steinberg, M. P. (2019). Do suspensions affect student outcomes?. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 41(1), 34-62. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102%2F0162373718794897</u>

 Lauermann, F., & König, J. (2016). Teachers' professional competence and wellbeing: Understanding the links between general pedagogical knowledge, self-efficacy and burnout. *Learning and Instruction*, 45, 9-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2016.06.006

- Levine Brown, E., Phillippo, K., Rodger, S. & Weston, K.J. (2017) Editorial, *Advances in School Mental Health Promotion*, 10(1), 1-4. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1754730X.2016.1257035</u>
- Lockhorst, D., Wubbels, T., & van Oers, B. (2010). Educational dialogues and the fostering of pupils' independence: the practices of two teachers. *Journal of curriculum studies*, 42(1), 99-121. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220270903079237

Lysyk, B. (2014). Office of the Auditor General of Ontario: Annual Report, 2016, Volume 1 of 2. Retrieved October 20, 2020, from <u>https://www.auditor.on.ca/en/content/annualreports/arreports/en16/2016AR\_v1\_en\_web.</u> pdf

- Malloy-Weir, L. J., Charles, C., Gafni, A., & Entwistle, V. (2016). A review of health literacy: Definitions, interpretations, and implications for policy initiatives. *Journal of Public Health Policy*, *37*(3), 334-352. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/jphp.2016.18</u>
- Masters, R. E. (2019). Promoting Mentally Healthy Classrooms: Evaluation of Online Mental Health Literacy Instruction in Pre-Service Teacher Education [Doctoral Dissertation, University of Western Ontario]. Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository. 6586.
   <a href="https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/6586">https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/6586</a>
- McCallum, F., Price, D., Graham, A., & Morrison, A. (2017). Teacher well-being: A review of the literature. Sydney, NSWAIS. <u>https://apo.org.au/node/201816</u>

- McCarthy, J. D., & Hoge, D. R. (1987). The social construction of school punishment: Racial disadvantage out of universalistic process. *Social Forces*, 65(4), 1101-1120.
- Meldrum, L., Venn, D., & Kutcher, S. (2009). Mental health in schools: How teachers have the power to make a difference. *Health & Learning Magazine*, 8, 3-5.
- Mental Health America. (2020). *The State of Mental Health in America: Addressing Trauma in Youth. MHA*. Retrieved June 2021 from https://mhanational.org/sites/default/files/Addressing%20Trauma%20in%20Youth\_0.pdf
- Mental Health Commission of Canada. (2012). Changing directions, changing lives: The mental health strategy for Canada. Calgary, AB: Author.
- Mental Health Commission of Canada. (2013). Making the case for investing in mental health in Canada. Ottawa, ON: Mental Health Commission of Canada. Retrieved December 14, 2020, from <a href="https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/sites/default/files/2016-06/Investing\_in\_Mental\_Health\_FINAL\_Version\_ENG.pdf">https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/sites/default/files/2016-06/Investing\_in\_Mental\_Health\_FINAL\_Version\_ENG.pdf</a>
- Michael, K. D., Bernstein, S., Owens, J. S., Albright, A., & Anderson-Butcher, D. (2014).
  Preparing school mental health professionals: Competencies in interdisciplinary and cross system collaboration. In M. D. Weist, N. A. Lever, C. P. Bradshaw & J. S. Owens (Eds.), *Handbook of School Mental Health: Research, Training, Practice, and Policy*. New York, NY: Springer.
- Moor, S., Sharrock, G., Scott, J., McQueen, H., Wrate, R., Cowan J., & Blair, C. (2000).
   Evaluation of a teaching package designed to improve teachers' recognition of depressed pupils-a pilot study. Journal of Adolescence, 23, 331-342.
   https://doi.org/10.1006/jado.2000.0318
- Moore, A., & Gammie, J. (2018). *Revealed: Hundreds of children wait more than a year for specialist help.* Retrieved October 20, 2020, from <u>https://www.hsj.co.uk/quality-and-</u> <u>performance/revealed-hundreds-of-children-wait-more-than-a-year-for-specialist-</u> help/7023232.article
- National Commission on Teaching and America's Future (2002) Unraveling the 'teacher shortage' problem: Teacher retention is the key. Washington, D.C: Author.
- Nutbeam, D., Smith, C., Moore, L., & Bauman, A. (1993). Warning! Schools can damage your health: alienation from school and its impact on health behaviour. *Journal of Paediatrics* and Child Health, 29, S25-S30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1754.1993.tb02256.x</u>

- O'Neil, K. A., Conner, B. T., & Kendall, P. C. (2011). Internalizing disorders and substance use disorders in youth: Comorbidity, risk, temporal order, and implications for intervention. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 31(1), 104–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2010.08.002
- Ohrt, J. H., Deaton, J. D., Linich, K., Guest, J. D., Wymer, B., & Sandonato, B. (2020). Teacher training in K–12 student mental health: A systematic review. *Psychology in the Schools*, 57(5), 833–846. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22356</u>
- Ojio, Y., Foo, J. C., Usami, S., Fuyama, T., Ashikawa, M., Ohnuma, K., Oshima, N., Ando, S., Togo, F.,& Sasaki, T. (2019). Effects of a school teacher-led 45-minute educational program for mental health literacy in pre-teens. *Early intervention in psychiatry*, 13(4), 984-988. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/eip.12746</u>
- Ontario Child Health Study. (2021). *1983 OCHS*. Retrieved from https://ontariochildhealthstudy.ca/ochs/about/1983-ochs/
- Ontario College of Teachers (2018) 2018 Annual report: Setting the standard of great teaching. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.oct.ca/-</u>

/media/PDF/Annual%20Report%202018/2018AnnualReport\_complete\_EN\_web.pdf

Ontario Psychological Association (OPA). (2013). *Professional practice guidelines for school psychologists in Ontario*. Adapted from the Canadian Psychological Association Section of Psychologists in Education, Guidelines for Professional Practice for School Psychologists in Canada. Retrieved from

http://psych.on.ca/OPA/media/Public/OPA%20Guidelines%20and%20Reviews/professio nal-practice-guidelines-for-school-psychologists-in-ontario-2013.pdf

- Pandori-Chuckal, J. K. (2020). Mental Health Literacy and Initial Teacher Education: A Program Evaluation [Master's thesis, Western University, London, Canada]. Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository (#6834). Retrieved from https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/6834
- Papandrea, K., & Winefield, H. (2011). It's not just the squeaky wheels that need the oil: Examining teachers' views on the disparity between referral rates for students with internalizing versus externalizing problems. *School Mental Health*, 3(4), 222–235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12310-011-9063-8</u>
- Parker, J., Olson, S., & Bunde, J. (2019). The Impact of Trauma-Based Training on Educators. Journal of Child & Adolescent Trauma, 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40653-019-00261-5</u>

- Phillippo, K. L., & Kelly, M. S. (2013). On the Fault Line: A Qualitative Exploration of High School Teachers' Involvement with Student Mental Health Issues. *School Mental Health*, 6(3), 184–200. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12310-013-9113-5</u>
- Power, K., & Goodnough, K. (2019). Fostering teachers' autonomous motivation during professional learning: A self-determination theory perspective. *Teaching Education*, 30(3), 278-298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10476210.2018.1465035</u>
- Powers, J. D., Wegmann, K., Blackman, K., & Swick, D. C. (2014). Increasing awareness of child mental health issues among elementary school staff. Families in Society, 95(1), 43-50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1606%2F1044-3894.2014.95.6</u>
- Raja, S., Hasnain, M., Hoersch, M., Gove-Yin, S., & Rajagopalan, C. (2015). Trauma-informed care in medicine. Family & community health, 38(3), 216-226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/fch.000000000000071</u>
- Reeve, J. (2006). Teachers as Facilitators: What Autonomy-Supportive Teachers Do and Why Their Students Benefit. *The Elementary School Journal*, 106(3), 225–236. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1086/501484</u>
- Reinke, W. M., Stormont, M., Herman, K. C., Puri, R., & Goel, N. (2011). Supporting children's mental health in schools: Teacher perceptions of needs, roles, and barriers. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 26(1), 1-13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022714</u>
- Rivers, H. (2022). *Despite Covid Roadblocks, Thames Valley Graduation Rate Hits New High.* LFPress.com, The London Free Press. Retrieved from: <u>https://lfpress.com/news/local-news/despite-covid-roadblocks-thames-valley-graduation-rate-hits-new-high.</u>
- Rodger, S., Bird, R., Hibbert, K., Johnson, A. M., Specht, J., & Wathen, C. N. (2020). Initial teacher education and trauma and violence informed care in the classroom: Preliminary results from an online teacher education course. *Psychology in the Schools*, 57(12), 1798-1814. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22373</u>
- Rodger, S., Hibbert, K., Leschied, A., Pickel, L., Stepien, M., Atkins, Koeing, A., Woods., J.,
  Vandermeer, M. (2014). Mental health education in Canada: An analysis of teacher
  education and provincial/territorial curricula. *Teacher Education Literature Review*, 1-30.
  Retrieved June 2021 from Ottawa, ON: Physical and Health Education Canada. Retrieved
  from

https://www.csmh.uwo.ca/docs/publications/Mental%20Health%20Education%20in%20 Canada.pdf

- Roeser, R. W., & Midgley, C. (1997). Teachers' views of issues involving students' mental health. *The Elementary School Journal*, 98(2), 115-133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/461887</u>
- Rothi, D. M., Leavey, G., & Best, R. (2008). On the front-line: Teachers as active observers of pupils' mental health. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 24(5), 1217-1231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2007.09.011
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2011). A self-determination theory perspective on social, institutional, cultural, and economic supports for autonomy and their importance for well-being. In V. I. Chirkov, R. M. Ryan, & K. M. Sheldon (Eds.), *Human autonomy in cross-cultural context: Perspectives on the psychology of agency, freedom, and well-being.* Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-9667-8\_3</u>
- Saklofske, D. H., Schwean, V. L., Bartell, R., Mureika, J. M. K., Andrews, J., Derevensky, J., Janzen, H. L. (2007). School psychology in Canada: Past, present and future perspectives.
  In Fagan, T., Wise, P. (Eds.), *School psychology: Past, present, and future perspectives*.
  (pp. 297-338). Bethesda, MD: National Association of School Psychologists.
- Salerno, J. P. (2016). Effectiveness of universal school-based mental health awareness programs among youth in the United States: a systematic review. *Journal of school health*, 86(12), 922-931. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.12461</u>
- Scarfo, N. J. (2010). Touching the future: Educators and the law (Doctoral dissertation).
- School Mental Health Ontario. (2022). *Think in Tiers and Focus on the Positive*. Retrieved from: <u>https://smho-smso.ca/school-and-system-leaders/learn-more/mental-health-leadership-</u> strategies/think-in-tiers-and-focus-on-the-positive
- Shonkoff, J. P., Garner, A. S., Siegel, B. S., Dobbins, M. I., Earls, M. F., McGuinn, L., Pascoe, J., Wood, D. L., High, P. C., Donoghue, E., Fussell, J. J., Gleason, M. M., Jaudes, P. K., Jones, V. F., Rubin, D. M., Schulte, E. E., Macias, M. M., Bridgemohan, C., Godson, E., McGuinn, L. J., Weitzman, Wegner, L. M. (2012). The lifelong effects of early childhood adversity and toxic stress. *Pediatrics*, *129*(1), e232-e246. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2011-2663
- Siegfried, C. B., & Blackshear, K. (2016). Is it ADHD or child traumatic stress? *National Child Traumatic Stress Network*. Retrieved May 2021 from

https://www.nctsn.org/sites/default/files/resources/is\_it\_adhd\_or\_child\_traumatic\_stress. pdf

- Sørensen, K., Van den Broucke, S., Fullam, J., Doyle, G., Pelikan, J., Slonska, Z., & Brand, H. (2012). Health literacy and public health: a systematic review and integration of definitions and models. *BMC public health*, *12*(1), 1-13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-</u> 2458-12-80
- Statistics Canada. (2011). Calculation of instruction time by jurisdiction. Calculation of instruction time by jurisdiction. Retrieved April 3, 2022, from <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/81-604-x/2011001/tbl/tbl1-</u> <u>eng.htm#:~:text=Ontario%20Regulation%20298%20states%20that,and%20scheduled%2</u> Ointervals%20between%20classes
- Statistics Canada. (2019). Functional difficulties for children aged 5 to 17 years, Canadian Health Survey on Children and Youth 2019. Retrieved October 20, 2020, from https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/cv.action?pid=1310076501
- Sugai, G., & Horner, R. R. (2006). A Promising Approach for Expanding and Sustaining School-Wide Positive Behavior Support. School Psychology Review, 35(2), 245–259. https://doi.org/10.1080/02796015.2006.12087989
- Sweeney, A., Filson, B., Kennedy, A., Collinson, L., & Gillard, S. (2018). A paradigm shift: relationships in trauma-formed mental health services. *BJPsych advances*, 24(5), 319-333. https://dx.doi.org/10.1192%2Fbja.2018.29
- Thapar, A., Collishaw, S., Pine, D. S., & Thapar, A. K. (2012). Depression in adolescence. *The Lancet*, *379*(9820), 1056–1067. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60871-4
- Thousand, J. S., Villa, R. A., & Nevin, A. I. (2002). Creativity and collaborative learning: The practical guide to empowering students, teachers, and families. Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.
- Vaillancourt, T., & Boylan, K. (2015). Behavioural and emotional disorders of childhood and adolescence. Abnormal psychology: Perspectives, DSM-5 update edition (5th ed.). Toronto, Ontario, Canada: Pearson Education.
- Veenker, H., & Paans, W. (2016). A dynamic approach to communication in health literacy education. *BMC Medical Education*, 16(1), 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-016-0785-z</u>

- Vieira, M. A., Gadelha, A. A., Moriyama, T. S., Bressan, R. A., & Bordin, I. A. (2014). Evaluating the effectiveness of a training program that builds teachers' capability to identify and appropriately refer middle and high school students with mental health problems in Brazil: an exploratory study. BMC public health, 14(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-210
- Volk, A. A., Craig, W., Boyce, W., & King, M. (2006). Perceptions of parents, mental health, and school amongst Canadian adolescents from the provinces and the northern territories. *Canadian Journal of School Psychology*, 21, 33-46. https://doi.org/10.1177/0829573506298470
- Walkley, M., & Cox, T. L. (2013). Building trauma-informed schools and communities. *Children & Schools*, 35(2), 123-126. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cs/cdt007</u>
- Wang, H., Hall, N. C., & Rahimi, S. (2015). Self-efficacy and casual attributions in teachers: Effects on burnout, job satisfaction, illness, and quitting intentions. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 47, 120-130.
- Weinberger, A. H., Gbedemah, M., Martinez, A. M., Nash, D., Galea, S., & Goodwin, R. D. (2017). Trends in depression prevalence in the USA from 2005 to 2015: widening disparities in vulnerable groups. *Psychological Medicine*, 48(08), 1308–1315. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291717002781
- Weston, K. J., Anderson-Butcher, D., & Burke, R. W. (2008). Developing a comprehensive curriculum framework for teacher preparation in expanded school mental health.
   Advances in School Mental Health Promotion, 1(4), 25-41.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/1754730X.2008.9715737">https://doi.org/10.1080/1754730X.2008.9715737</a>
- Whitley, J., Smith, J. D., & Vaillancourt, T. (2013). Promoting Mental Health Literacy Among Educators. *Canadian Journal of School Psychology*, 28(1), 56–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0829573512468852</u>
- Willis, A., Hyde, M., & Black, A. (2019). Juggling with both hands tied behind my back: teachers' views and experiences of the tensions between student well-being concerns and academic performance improvement agendas. *American Educational Research Journal*, 56(6), 2644-2673. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102%2F0002831219849877</u>

- Woods, J. A. (2022). Evaluating Mental Health Training for Teachers: Identifying and Supporting Students with Mental Health Challenges. Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository. <u>https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/2022</u>
- Yeo, B. (2021). Caring for teachers: Exploring pre-service teacher well-being, self-efficacy, and vicarious trauma [Master's thesis, Western University, London, Canada]. Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository (#7742) Retrieved from <u>https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/7742</u>
- Zee, M., & Koomen, H. M. (2016). Teacher self-efficacy and its effects on classroom processes, student academic adjustment, and teacher well-being: A synthesis of 40 years of research. *Review of Educational Research*, 86(4), 981-1015. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654315626801" https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654315626801

#### Appendices

#### Appendix A

#### Ethical Approval Form



Date: 2 October 2019

To: Dr. Susan Rodger

Project ID: 112483

Study Title: Evaluating a Mental Health Literacy Course for Pre-Service Teachers

Application Type: NMREB Amendment Form

Review Type: Delegated

Full Board Reporting Date: 01/Nov/2019

Date Approval Issued: 02/Oct/2019 10:41

REB Approval Expiry Date: 25/Sep/2020

Dear Dr. Susan Rodger,

The Western University Non-Medical Research Ethics Board (NMREB) has reviewed and approved the WREM application form for the amendment, as of the date noted above.

#### **Documents Approved:**

Document Name	Document Type	Document Date	Document Version
10.1.2019.Research Plan 5018Q 2019_CLEAN	Protocol	01/Oct/2019	2
10.1.2019_Email Script_Longitudinal	Recruitment Materials	01/Oct/2019	1
10.1.2019_LOI_Consent_CLEAN2	Implied Consent/Assent	01/Oct/2019	2
10.1.2019_LOI_Consent_Longitudinal_CLEAN2	Implied Consent/Assent	01/Oct/2019	2
10.1.2019_Mental_Health_Literacy_Course_2019- 2020_One_Year_Follow-Up survey	Online Survey	01/Oct/2019	2
100.1.2019_Mental_Health_Literacy_CoursePost-Test survey_CLEAN	Online Survey	02/Oct/2019	1
Mental_Health_Literacy_CoursePre-Test_2019_survey_CLEAN	Online Survey	01/Oct/2019	2

REB members involved in the research project do not participate in the review, discussion or decision.

The Western University NMREB operates in compliance with the Tri-Council Policy Statement Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS2), the Ontario Personal Health Information Protection Act (PHIPA, 2004), and the applicable laws and regulations of Ontario. Members of the NMREB who are named as Investigators in research studies do not participate in discussions related to, nor vote on such studies when they are presented to the REB. The NMREB is registered with the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services under the IRB registration number IRB 00000941.

Please do not hesitate to contact us if you have any questions.

Sincerely,

Katelyn Harris, Research Ethics Officer on behalf of Dr. Randal Graham, NMREB Chair

Note: This correspondence includes an electronic signature (validation and approval via an online system that is compliant with all regulations).

# Appendix B

# **Basic Demographic Questions**

- Q1: Please enter your Western Student Login (e.g. jdoe)
- Q2: Please indicate which best describes your experience.
- Q3: Gender
  - o Male
  - o Female
  - o Transgender
  - Prefer not to say
- Q5: Cohort
  - International Education
  - o Early Childhood Education
  - Urban Education
  - o French
  - o STEM
  - o Advanced Studies in the Psychology of Achievement, Inclusion and Mental Health
- Q6: Previous Degree
  - Science (biology, chemistry, physics, mathematics)
  - Psychology
  - o Child and Family Studies
  - Health Sciences (kinesiology, nursing, medicine)
  - Social Sciences (geography, sociology, anthropology, economics, politic science)
  - o Arts and Humanities (english, history, women's studies, philosophy, french)
  - Social Work
  - Religion/Divinity
- Q7: Degree Obtained
  - Undergraduate
  - Masters
  - o PhD

- Other (please describe):
- Q8: I have learned about mental health and mental illness before this course:
  - o Yes
  - No (\*If the answer is no, participant is done this section\*)
- Q9: If yes, where from? Choose one from the following:
  - Training program (such as ASSIST or Mental Health First AID)
  - Undergraduate course
  - Post graduate course
  - Other (please describe):

### Appendix C

# School Mental Health Self-Efficacy Teacher Survey (SMH-SETS)

### **SMH-SETS Questions**

All items below are judged on a 6-point Likert Scale: 1) Strongly Disagree, 2) Disagree, 3) Somewhat Disagree, 4) Somewhat Agree, 5) Agree, 6) Strongly Agree.

Instructions: Please rate your confidence on the following items.

"I feel confident in my ability to..."

- Question 1: I feel confident in my ability to recognize when there is a student with an internalizing concern (e.g., depression and/or anxiety symptoms)
- Question 2: I feel confident in my ability to recognize when there is a student with an externalizing concern (e.g., defiant, hyperactive, and/or aggressive behavior)
- Question 3: I feel confident in my ability to recognize when a student is displaying indicators of exposure to trauma (e.g., intense event that threatens harm to emotional and/or physical well-being such as natural disaster, violence, serious injury, or sexual abuse)
- Question 4: I feel confident in my ability to provide academic instruction to students with an internalizing concern (e.g., depression and/or anxiety symptoms)
- Question 5: I feel confident in my ability to provide academic instruction to students with an externalizing concern (e.g., defiant, hyperactive, and/or aggressive behavior)
- Question 6: I feel confident in my ability to provide academic instruction to students from diverse backgrounds who have mental health concerns
- Question 7: I feel confident in my ability to consider cultural needs in promoting students' mental health
- Question 8: I feel confident in my ability to respond when a student is in crisis (e.g., pose a potential threat of harm to themselves or others)
- Question 9: I feel confident in my ability to respond when a student is displaying aggressive behavior
- Question 10: I feel confident in my ability to respond to a student who is expressing suicidal thoughts

- Question 11: I feel confident in my ability to refer a student to the appropriate school-based mental health providers
- Question 12: I feel confident in my ability to offer assistance in the classroom when a student is struggling with a mental health concern
- Question 13: I feel confident in my ability to discuss student mental health concerns with parents/guardians.
- Question 14: I feel confident in my ability to promote the social skills of students in my classroom (e.g., review how to solve peer conflicts, provide opportunities for peer interactions on academic projects)
- Question 15: I feel confident in my ability to promote the emotional skills of students in my classroom (e.g., label emotions, model coping strategies, praise for managing emotions)

# Appendix D

# Attitudes Related to Trauma-Informed Care Scale (ARTIC)

**Instructions**: For each item, select the circle along the dimension between the two options that best represents your personal belief during the past two months at your job.

# I believe that...

1.	Students' learning and behavior problems are rooted in their behavioral or mental health condition.	Students' learning and behavior problems are rooted in their history of difficult life events.
2.	Focusing on developing healthy, healing relationships is the best approach when working with people with trauma histories.	Rules and consequences are the best approach when working with people with trauma histories.
3.	Being very upset is normal for many of the students I serve.	It reflects badly on me if my students are very upset.
4.	I don't have what it takes to help my students	I have what it takes to help my students.
5.	It's best not to tell others if I have strong feelings about the work because they will think I am not cut out for this job.	It's best if I talk with others about my strong feelings about the work so I don't have to hold it alone.
6.	The students were raised this way, so there's not much I can do about it now.	The students were raised this way, so they don't yet know how to do what I'm asking them to do.
7.	Students need to experience real life consequences in order to function in the real world.	Students need to experience healing relationships in order to function in the real world.
8.	If students say or do disrespectful things to me, it makes me look like a fool in front of others.	If students say or do disrespectful things to me, it doesn't reflect badly on me.
9.	I have the skills to help my students.	I do not have the skills to help my students.

10. The best way to deal with feeling burnt out at work is to seek support.	The best way to deal with feeling burnt out at work is not to dwell on it and it will pass.
<ol> <li>Many students just don't want to change or learn.</li> </ol>	All students want to change or learn.
12. Students often are not yet able or ready to take responsibility for their actions. They need to be treated flexibly and as individuals.	Students need to be held accountable for their actions.
<ol> <li>I realize that students may not be able to apologize to me after they act out.</li> </ol>	If students don't apologize to me after they act out, I look like a fool in front of others.
14. Each day is uniquely stressful in this job.	Each day is new and interesting in this job.
15. The fact that I'm impacted by my work means that I care.	Sometimes I think I'm too sensitive to do this kind of work.
16. Students have had to learn how to trick or mislead others to get their needs met.	Students are manipulative so you need to always question what they say.
17. Helping a student feel safe and cared about is the best way to eliminate undesirable behaviors.	Administering punitive consequences is the best way to eliminate undesirable behaviors.
18. When I make mistakes with students, it is best to move on and pretend it didn't happen.	When I make mistakes with students, it is best to own up to my mistakes.
19. The ups and downs are part of the work so I don't take it personally.	The unpredictability and intensity of work makes me think I'm not fit for this job.
20. The most effective helpers find ways to toughen up – to screen out the pain – and not care so much about the work.	The most effective helpers allow themselves to be affected by the work – to feel and manage the pain – and to keep caring about the work

-----

21. Students could act better if they really wanted to.	Students are doing the best they can with the skills they have.
<ol> <li>It's best to treat students with respect and kindness from the start so they know I care.</li> </ol>	It's best to be very strict at first so students learn they can't take advantage of me.
23. Healthy relationships with students are the way to good student outcomes.	People will think I have poor boundaries if I build relationships with my students.
24. I feel able to do my best each day to help my students.	I'm just not up to helping my students anymore.
25. It is because I am good at my job that the work is affecting me so much.	If I were better at my job, the work wouldn't affect me so much.
26. Students do the right thing one day but not the next. This shows that they are doing the best they can at any particular time.	Students do the right thing one day but not the next. This shows that they could control their behavior if they really wanted to.
27. When managing a crisis, enforcement of rules is the most important thing.	When managing a crisis, flexibility is the most important thing.
<ol> <li>If I don't control students' behavior, bad things will happen to property.</li> </ol>	As long as everyone is safe, it is ok for students to become really upset, even if they cause some property damage.
29. I dread going to my job because it's just too hard and intense.	Even when my job is hard and intense, I know it's part of the work and it's ok.
30. How I am doing personally is unrelated to whether I can help my students.	I have to take care of myself personally in order to take care of my students.
<ol> <li>If things aren't going well, it is because the students are not doing what they need to do.</li> </ol>	If things aren't going well, it is because I need to shift what I'm doing.

32. I am most effective as a helper when I focus on a student's strengths.	I am most effective as a helper when I focus on a student's problem behaviors.
<ol> <li>Being upset doesn't mean that students will hurt others.</li> </ol>	If I don't control students' behavior, other students will get hurt.
34. If I told my colleagues how hard my job is, they would support me.	If I told my colleagues how hard my job is, they would think I wasn't cut out for the job.
35. When I feel myself "taking my work home," it's best to bring it up with my colleagues and/or supervisor(s)	When I feel myself "taking my work home," it's best to keep it to myself.

\_\_\_\_\_
## Appendix E

### Mental Health Literacy Questionnaire (MHLQ)

All items below are judged on a 5-point Likert Scale: 1) Strongly Disagree, 2) Disagree

Somewhat, 3) Neither Agree nor Disagree, 4) Agree Somewhat, 5) Strongly Agree

Subscale 1: Teaching and Leading in a Mentally Healthy Classroom (26 items)

I know...

- 1. Who to talk to when my student seems to be struggling with behaviours or emotions.
- 2. The steps to take to make a referral for my student who seems to be struggling with behaviours or emotions.

3. About the resources available in my community to support students' mental health

I can...

- 4. Effectively address the situation wherein a student confides in me that he/she is contemplating suicide.
- 5. Lead others to create effective supports for students who have had adverse experiences.
- 6. Create a classroom that is physically safe for all students.
- 7. Create a classroom that is emotionally safe for all students.
- 8. Effectively teach students who have had adverse experiences, such as abuse, household dysfunction, or inadequate housing/nutrition/social support.
- 9. Effectively teach/work with a student who is highly anxious.
- 10. Communicate effectively with parents/family members about their child's behavior and emotions.
- 11. Create positive relationships with parents or caregivers of my students who may be struggling with behaviour or emotions.
- 12. Effectively teach students who seem overly sad.
- 13. Adapt my curriculum or practices for students who are suffering from behavioral or emotional problems.
- 14. Work with families who have done damaging things to their children.
- 15. Cope with my own stress in my work as a teacher.
- 16. Identify a student who is flourishing in the classroom.
- 17. Identify a student who is languishing in the classroom.

- 18. Identify a student who is mentally healthy in the classroom.
- 19. Identify a student who is mentally unwell in the classroom.
- 20. Explain the contextual factors that contribute to students' behaviours and emotions.
- 21. Effectively explain to a colleague the early signs of a mental illness.
- 22. Effectively explain to a colleague how to create a classroom environment that is supportive of students with behavioural or emotional problems.
- Create a classroom environment that is supportive of students with behavioural or emotional problems.
- 24. Contribute to a student support team process when the student in question has behavioural or emotional problems.
- 25. Access the resources available in my community to support students' mental health.
- 26. I can help/support others (teachers) cope with their stress.

#### Subscale 2: Role Clarity (4 items)

I have...

- 27. A responsibility to promote the mental health of students.
- 28. A responsibility to meet the needs of students with behavioural and emotional problems.
- 29. A responsibility to meet the needs of students with mental illness.
- 30. A responsibility to continue learning about the most effective ways to support students

## Subscale 3: Expectancies (6 items)

I will be...

- 31. Working with children/adolescents who are sometimes violent.
- 32. Teaching students who exhibit significant behavior problems.
- 33. Teaching students who exhibit significant emotional problems.
- 34. Teaching students who have multiple adverse childhood experiences.
- 35. Teaching students who have significant attention problems.
- 36. Teaching students who have significant learning problems.

### Subscale 4: Professional Relational Skills (9 items)

I know how to build relationships with...

- 37. Students
- 38. Parents
- 39. Administrators

40. Other teachers

I am confident in my ability to...

- 41. Manage conflict with parents
- 42. Manage conflict with students
- 43. Manage conflict with administrators
- 44. Manage conflict with other teachers
- 45. Support students with their problems

## Appendix F

# Teacher Well-Being Scale (TWBS)

Currently, how do the following aspects of being a teacher affect your well-being as a student teacher?

Q1 Marking work

- Negatively (1)
- Mostly Negatively (2)
- More Negatively than Positively (3)
- Neither Positively nor Negatively (4)
- More Positively than Negatively (5)
- Mostly Positively (6)
- Positively (7)

Q2 Fitting everything into the allotted time

- Negatively (1)
- Mostly Negatively (2)
- More Negatively than Positively (3)
- Neither Positively nor Negatively (4)
- More Positively than Negatively (5)
- Mostly Positively (6)
- Positively (7)

Q3 Administrative work related to teaching

- Negatively (1)
- Mostly Negatively (2)
- More Negatively than Positively (3)
- Neither Positively nor Negatively (4)
- More Positively than Negatively (5)
- Mostly Positively (6)
- Positively (7)

Q4 Work I complete outside of school hours for teaching

- Negatively (1)
- Mostly Negatively (2)
- More Negatively than Positively (3)
- Neither Positively nor Negatively (4)
- More Positively than Negatively (5)
- Mostly Positively (6)
- Positively (7)

Q5 Working to finish my teaching tasks

- Negatively (1)
- Mostly Negatively (2)
- More Negatively than Positively (3)
- Neither Positively nor Negatively (4)
- More Positively than Negatively (5)
- Mostly Positively (6)
- Positively (7)

Q6 Staying late after work for meetings and activities

- Negatively (1)
- Mostly Negatively (2)
- More Negatively than Positively (3)
- Neither Positively nor Negatively (4)
- More Positively than Negatively (5)
- Mostly Positively (6)
- Positively (7)

Q7 Relations with administrators at my school

- Negatively (1)
- Mostly Negatively (2)
- More Negatively than Positively (3)
- Neither Positively nor Negatively (4)
- More Positively than Negatively (5)
- Mostly Positively (6)
- Positively (7)

Q8 Support offered by school leadership

- Negatively (1)
- Mostly Negatively (2)
- More Negatively than Positively (3)
- Neither Positively nor Negatively (4)
- More Positively than Negatively (5)
- Mostly Positively (6)
- Positively (7)

Q9 Recognition for my teaching

- Negatively (1)
- Mostly Negatively (2)
- More Negatively than Positively (3)
- Neither Positively nor Negatively (4)
- More Positively than Negatively (5)

```
• Mostly Positively (6)
```

• Positively (7)

Q10 School rules and procedures that are in place

- Negatively (1)
- o Mostly Negatively (2)
- More Negatively than Positively (3)
- Neither Positively nor Negatively (4)
- More Positively than Negatively (5)
- Mostly Positively (6)
- Positively (7)

Q11 Communication between members of the school

- Negatively (1)
- Mostly Negatively (2)
- More Negatively than Positively (3)
- Neither Positively nor Negatively (4)
- More Positively than Negatively (5)
- Mostly Positively (6)
- Positively (7)

Q12 Participation in school-level decision making

- Negatively (1)
- Mostly Negatively (2)
- More Negatively than Positively (3)
- Neither Positively nor Negatively (4)
- More Positively than Negatively (5)
- Mostly Positively (6)
- Positively (7)

Q13 Student behaviour

- Negatively (1)
- Mostly Negatively (2)
- More Negatively than Positively (3)
- Neither Positively nor Negatively (4)
- More Positively than Negatively (5)
- Mostly Positively (6)
- Positively (7)

Q14 Relations with students in my class

- Negatively (1)
- Mostly Negatively (2)
- More Negatively than Positively (3)

- Neither Positively nor Negatively (4)
- More Positively than Negatively (5)
- Mostly Positively (6)
- Positively (7)

Q15 Student motivation

- $\circ$  Negatively (1)
- Mostly Negatively (2)
- More Negatively than Positively (3)
- Neither Positively nor Negatively (4)
- More Positively than Negatively (5)
- Mostly Positively (6)
- Positively (7)

Q16 Classroom management

- $\circ$  Negatively (1)
- Mostly Negatively (2)
- More Negatively than Positively (3)
- Neither Positively nor Negatively (4)
- More Positively than Negatively (5)
- Mostly Positively (6)
- Positively (7)

## **Curriculum Vitae**

Name:	Samir Boulazreg
Post-secondary Education and Degrees:	York University Toronto, Ontario, Canada 2013-2019 B.A. (Hons), Psychology
	Western University London, Ontario, Canada 2020-2022 M.A., Counselling Psychology
Honours and Awards:	Ontario Graduate Scholarship (OGS) 2021-2022
Related Work Experience	School Counsellor and Psychometrist (internship) Thames Valley District School Board 2021-2022

### **Refereed Publications:**

- Rokach, A., & **Boulazreg**, S. (2020). The COVID-19 era: How therapists can achieve vitality and diminish burnout symptoms through self-care. *Current Psychology*. 1-18.
- **Boulazreg, S.**, & Rokach, A. (2020). The lonely, isolating, and alienating implications of Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome. *Healthcare*, 8(4): 413-433.
- Rokach, A., & **Boulazreg, S.** (2020). The road to becoming a psychologist: Indicators of success and hardship during the university years. *The Journal of Psychology: Interdisciplinary and Applied*, *154*(8): 632-661.

### **Non-Refereed Publications:**

**Boulazreg, S.**, & Rokach, A. (2017). The novice counsellor's self-prophesying path to mediocrity: Shifting the focus from unnecessary fears and anxieties to areas that could use improvement. *International Journal of Psychology Research*, *12*(4): 373-392.